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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FHARGEEEREMEERER

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

20235 F 202481

FY2023 FY2024

ARBT T ARETR

RMB’000 RMB’000

e Revenue 4,722,749 3,770,543
E A Gross Profit 767,533 536,504
R 75 A s ) Profit before tax 533,414 333,604
F W@ F Profit for the year 421,514 276,194

AR S M BARR &

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20231 4 2024 B &

FY2023 FY2024

AREFTT ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

1 E Total assets 3,238,815 4,605,529

mEE Total liabilities 1,662,922 1,989,837

B Total equity 1,575,893 2,615,692
MEREE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

. 2024 B F Y RRUL A X B AR¥E3,770.5
BEJT (202381 F : HARMEA4 72278
Br) ' AL TE%20.2%

. 2024 F R m AL ABARME276.25H
B (20238 F : YARB421 588
JC) * [EEL T BE4I34.5%

. 2024 FHEBREARBEFNAARE

0.377T (2023814 : HAR™E0.607T)
R T F%4)38.3%

. EEeERRERIREEBRARE
0.0617C

04 XBEBEIEREMAT Y FR 2023/2024

FY2024 of
(FY2023:
year-on-year

° Total revenue for
RMB3,770.5 million
RMB4,722.7 million),
approximately 20.2%

approximately
approximately
decrease of

° Profit for FY2024 of approximately RMB276.2 million

(FY2023: approximately RMB421.5 million), year-on-
year decrease of approximately 34.5%

Basic earnings per Share for FY2024 of
approximately RMB0.37 (FY2023: approximately
RMBO0.60), year-on-year decrease of approximately
38.3%

The Board recommended the payment of a final
dividend of RMB0.061 per Share
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KREPE OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

BE3A3IALEFEE

For the year ended 31 March A bt S -
20244 20234 Year-on-year
2024 2023 change*
(Fmg) (Fmg)
(Tonne '000) (Tonne '000)
sHE Sales volume
R (et KCL 1,251 1,067 17.2%
T Bk SOP 143 124 15.3%
* ELL B EIEARFEHAFHLER * Year-on-year change represents a comparison

between the current year and the last year
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On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for FY2024.

GROUP INTRODUCTION

Over the past two decades since the beginning of the
year 2000, the Group has been committed to its core
business philosophy of “providing customers with high-
quality products” to continuously promote innovation
in agricultural fertilizer technology, optimize industrial
layout, constantly enhance the core competitiveness
of the Group’s potash fertilizer products, and steadily
advance the green and sustainable development of
the Group. Nowadays, the Group has grown into a
large-scale comprehensive potash fertilizer enterprise
integrating procurement, production and sales. On 21
March 2024, the Company was successfully listed on
the Stock Exchange, which is an important milestone in
the development of the Group and also marks a key step
towards the international market. After listing, the Group
will further improve its management level and operational
efficiency, accelerate its global layout and commit to
sustainable development to create greater value for the
society.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In recent years, uncertainties such as epidemics and
changes in the geopolitical landscape have posed
challenges to the global potash fertilizer supply system,
causing the market price of potash fertilizers to fluctuate
significantly within a certain period of time. Facing
the severe and complicated external environment, the
Group has made concerted efforts to give full play to its
comprehensive advantages in raw material procurement,
production and manufacturing and marketing network,
to strive to ensure the stable supply of potash fertilizer
products to customers, which has won it extensive
industry credibility and further consolidated its customer
base. Meanwhile, the Group’'s sales volume also
achieved considerable growth. In FY2024, the Group's
purchase volume of major raw material of KCL was
approximately 1,524,000 tonnes, representing an increase
of approximately 50.9% as compared to the same period
of last year; and the overall sales volume of the Group’s
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products and production services provided reached
approximately 1,734,000 tonnes, representing an increase
of approximately 20.1% as compared to the same period
of last year and achieved a net profit of approximately
RMB280.0 million. Such encouraging results not only
highlighted the Group’s excellent operational capabilities,
but also further enhanced the Group’s market position.
Compared with last year, the Group’s net profit declined
despite an increase in overall sales volume, mainly due to
the lower selling price of potash fertilizer products in the
national and even global markets. Currently, the demand
for high-quality potash fertilizer products in the market of
China is rising steadily, and the Group has established
long-term and stable cooperative relationship with a wide
range of customers. We are confident that we will continue
to provide the market with high-quality and diversified
potash fertilizer products to further consolidate and
enhance the Group’s leading position in the industry.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

As an agricultural enterprise specializing in potash
fertilizers, we deeply feel that we have a heavy
responsibility and an honorable mission. We will
unswervingly uphold the concept of taking national food
security as our own responsibility and be committed to
contributing to China’s agricultural development.

Looking into the future, we are full of confidence and
determination to move forward along this development
path. We will continue to adhere to the customer-centered
concept, further deepen the innovation of modern
agricultural technology, continuously optimize the product
structure for soil and plant nutrition, continue to improve
product quality, and dedicate ourselves to providing
better products and services to the majority of agricultural
producers to safeguard the national food security. We
will continue to strengthen the management and control
of the upstream supply chain to ensure a stable and
reliable supply of raw materials. We will also continue
to improve our raw material warehousing and logistics
system, enhance the rapid response capabilities of the
supply chain and minimize supply risks. At the same time,
we will continue to deepen our cooperative relationship
with downstream customers and further expand our sales
channels. Such stable model of upstream and downstream
collaborative development will help us continue to maintain
our advantageous position in the complex and ever-
changing market competition in the future.

MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 07
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Meanwhile, we are actively promoting the construction of
the warehousing and production centre in Tongjiang City,
Heilongjiang Province, the PRC. Upon completion, the
project will further enhance the Group’s potash fertilizer
supply chain management, market deployment and sales
service capabilities in the Northeast region. By integrating
the procurement, processing, storage and logistics in
the region, we will enhance the Group’s management
efficiency and provide customers and peers with more
flexible and faster local potash fertilizer deployment
services, which will help optimize our product supply
chain, significantly improve our overall service level and
further consolidate the long-term cooperative relationship
with our customers.

On the premise of meeting the needs of the Chinese
market, we also attach great importance to the
development opportunities in emerging markets such
as Southeast Asia. With the large population base in
the region, the continuous modernization of agricultural
production and the growing demand for high-quality
fertilizers, we will deploy overseas emerging markets in
advance and intensify our market development efforts in
Southeast Asia, so as to inject new growth momentum into
the future development of the Group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all the staff for their hard work in the
past year, and to all our customers, shareholders, partners
and all sectors of society for their long-term trust and
support.

Looking to the future, we will take on the important
responsibility of safeguarding national food security with
a higher sense of responsibility and mission, and go
all out to inject strong impetus into China's agricultural
development. With an open and inclusive mindset, we will
work hand in hand with our partners to create a better
future and jointly write a development chapter for the
potash fertilizer industry in the new era.

Liu Guocai
Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
21 June 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In FY2024, the Group continued to solidify its position
as a leading potash fertiliser company in China, with
the overall sales volume of the products of the Group
and the provision of production services increased
by 20.1%, from approximately 1,444,000 tonnes in
FY2023 to approximately 1,734,000 tonnes in FY2024.
This growth is primarily attributable to the Group’s
unwavering commitment to product quality and a profound
understanding of its customers’ needs.

In FY2024, the Group recorded a sales volume of
approximately 1,403,000 tonnes of products sold to
customers from FY2023, representing an increase of
approximately 237,000 tonnes or approximately 20.3%
compared to approximately 1,166,000 tonnes sold to these
customers in FY2023. Furthermore, the Group successfully
expanded its customer base, with revenue from new
customers in FY2024 accounting for over 15% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year.

In line with the increase in sales volume, the Group's
purchase volume of major raw material of KCL reached
a new record high of approximately 1,524,000 tonnes
in FY2024. The Group, having operated in the potash
fertiliser business in China for more than 20 years, has
established comprehensive procurement channels for
KCL, which enable the Group to secure a stable supply
of KCL from major overseas potash fertiliser producers
at competitive costs. Moreover, to further enhance the
reliability and stability of the supply chain, the Group has
actively negotiated and entered into several memoranda
of understanding to ensure the future supply of KCL,
and also explored cooperation opportunities with other
suppliers to source high-quality KCL from diverse origins.

The listing of the Shares in March 2024 marked a
significant milestone in the Group’s history. This
accomplishment is expected to provide access to different
capital markets, thereby diversifying our financing options
for business expansion and facilitating the expansion of
the Group’s customer base.

Annual Report 2023/2024 %Y MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 09
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group aims to navigate market
fluctuations by driving growth through innovation and
expanding the Group's product offerings. The Group
will continue exploring new markets to support the
increasing global demand for high-efficiency fertilisers,
while maintaining its focus on operational efficiency and
customer satisfaction. The Group’s strategic investments
in new facilities and technologies are expected to enhance
its supply capacity and bolster its position as a reliable
partner in the agricultural industry. In light of the above,
the Group will continue to explore different investment
opportunities, improve production capacity and bring
values to the Group in the PRC as well as in Southeast
Asia.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’'s revenue for FY2024 consisted of sales
of products and provision of production services. The
following tables set forth a breakdown of the Group's
revenue by (i) sales of each type of products and the
provision of production services; (ii) types of customers;
and (iii) sales volume, respectively, for the years indicated:

BE3A31BLEE

For the year ended 31 March Eilsd=
20244 20234 Year-on-year
2024 2023 change
ARBTT AR¥EFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EmHE Sales of products
k(e KCL 3,166,130 4,024,088 (21.3)%
T B SOP 438,190 476,058 (8.0)%
T B £ NOP 2,348 15,366 (84.7)%
BEE Compound fertilisers 53,446 47,747 11.9%
HAtb Others! 86,444 129,449 (33.2)%
3,746,558 4,692,708
REEERE Provision of production
services 23,985 30,041 (20.2)%
o Total 3,770,543 4,722,749 (20.2)%

10 *BEMERARAT Y 57 2023/2024



EEEIH RO \‘l
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Y

BZE3AMHLEE

For the year ended 31 March Ciisd i)
20244 20234 Year-on-year
2024 2023 change
AR¥T T ARBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EFEHER Type of customers
HECE(HERE]D State-owned enterprise (SOE) 2,017,636 2,660,983 (24.2)%
JFEEBHE Non-SOE 1,752,907 2,061,766 (15.0)%
“et Total 3,770,543 4,722,749
BZ3A3MALEE
For the year ended 31 March [m L&
20244 20234 Year-on-year
2024 2023 change
(F W) (Fmg)
(Tonne’000) (Tonne’000)
$HE Sales volume
R (e KCL 1,251 1,067 17.2%
o B SOP 143 124 15.3%

Annual Report 2023/2024 % MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 11
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During FY2024, the sales of KCL and SOP contributed the
top two portions of the revenue of the Group, accounting
for approximately 84.0% and 11.6% respectively of the
total revenue of the Group. During FY2024, the sales to
agribusiness companies and agricultural reclamation
companies contributed approximately 78% and 17%
respectively to the total revenue of the Group (FY2023:
approximately 68% and 27% respectively). The Group's
revenue for FY2024 was approximately RMB3,770.5
million, representing a decrease of approximately 20.2%
from approximately RMB4,722.7 million for FY2023. The
decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to the
decrease in the average selling price of KCL and SOP.
The high market selling price of potash fertiliser products
during FY2023 was due to global supply uncertainty of
KCL and the market selling price has returned to a lower
level during FY2024.
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For FY2024, the cost of goods sold was approximately
RMB3,234.0 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 18.2% from approximately RMB3,955.2
million for FY2023. This decrease was primarily attributable
to the decrease in the purchase price of KCL, the major
raw material of the Group’s products.

Gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
30.1% from approximately RMB767.5 million for FY2023 to
approximately RMB536.5 million for FY2024. Gross profit
margin decreased from approximately 16.3% for FY2023
to approximately 14.2% for FY2024. The decrease in gross
profit was primarily due to the decrease in the gross profit
margin of KCL from approximately 17.1% in FY2023 to
approximately 12.8% in FY2024 which was partially offset
by the increase in the gross profit margin of SOP from
approximately 10.5% in FY2023 to approximately 22.8% in
FY2024.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the gross

profit margin of the Group by products and provision of
production services for the years indicated:

BZE3A3IALEE

For the year ended 31 March R ®)
20244 20234 Year-on-year
2024 2023 change
ERNR Gross profit margin
FLim KCL 12.8% 17.1% (4.3)%
i il SOP 22.8% 10.5% 12.3%
T Bk £ NOP 7.5% 8.5% (1.0)%
BahE Compound fertilisers 25.0% 15.2% 9.8%
H Others™ 9.8% 8.2% 1.6%
R AEE RS Provision of production services 39.1% 33.0% 6.1%
st Overall 14.2% 16.3% (2.1)%
Bt - Note:
(1) Hitb X ZREHEE RIERAMA - (1) Others mainly consist of HCL and fertiliser additive.

Annual Report 2023/2024
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Other income of the Group increased by approximately
34.6% from approximately RMB6.8 million for FY2023 to
approximately RMB9.2 million for FY2024. This increase
was primarily due to (i) increase in bank interest income,
driven by an increase in average bank balances and cash
in FY2024; and (ii) increase in government grants as a
result in a one-off government grant received by the Group
during FY2024.

Other gains and losses, net of reversal of the Group
amounted to a gain of approximately RMB5.6 million for
FY2024 compared to a loss of approximately RMB16.9
million for FY2023. A significant foreign exchange loss of
approximately RMB16.4 million was recorded for FY2023
as a result of the foreign exchange losses deriving from
the Group’s settlement of monetary liabilities denominated
in US dollars while the Group recorded an exchange gain
in FY2024 deriving from monetary assets of the Group
denominated in US dollars during FY2024.

Reversal of impairment losses, net, of the Group increased
by approximately 57.1% from approximately RMB1.7
million for FY2023 to approximately RMB2.6 million for
FY2024, primarily attributable to the improvement in the
recoverability of the trade receivables of the Group and
decrease in trade receivables balances.

Distribution and selling expenses of the Group decreased
by approximately 51.2% from approximately RMB61.7
million for FY2023 to approximately RMB30.1 million
for FY2024, primarily attributable to the decrease in
transportation charge in FY2024 as a result of the
decrease in inventory management activities between the
subsidiaries of the Company during FY2024.
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General and administrative expenses of the Group
decreased by approximately 11.6% from approximately
RMB105.7 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB93.4
million for FY2024, primarily due to better cost control
implemented by the Group.

Research and development expenses of the Group
remained relatively stable from approximately RMB31.0
million for FY2023 to approximately RMB30.9 million for
FY2024 as the Group maintained constant research and
development activities.

Listing expenses of the Group increased by approximately
92.9% from approximately RMB20.9 million for FY2023
to approximately RMB40.3 million for FY2024 due to an
increase in professional fees incurred in connection with
the completion of the initial public offering and listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange.

The share of result of a joint venture of the Group
decreased by approximately 153.2% from a gain of
approximately RMB11.3 million for FY2023 to a loss of
approximately RMB6.0 million for FY2024, primarily due to
the decrease in sales volume and gross profit margin of
NOP of the joint venture of the Group during FY2024.

Finance costs of the Group increased by approximately
11.0% from approximately RMB17.7 million for FY2023 to
approximately RMB19.6 million for FY2024, primarily due
to increase in borrowings of the Group.

The income tax expense of the Group decreased by
approximately 48.7% from approximately RMB111.9 million
for FY2023 to approximately RMB57.4 million for FY2024,
mainly attributable to the decrease in profit before tax.

MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 15
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The net profit of the Group for FY2024 was approximately
RMB276.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 34.5% as compared with approximately
RMB421.5 million for FY2023. This decrease was mainly
due to the following reasons: (i) as disclosed in the
Prospectus, the Group’s net profit for the eight months
ended 30 November 2023 decreased by approximately
32% comparing to the same period of FY2023, primarily
due to the high market selling price of potash fertiliser
products during FY2023 as a result of global supply
uncertainty of KCL; and (ii) during the last quarter of
FY2024 which was the peak season of the Group’s
business, the net profit of the Group did not rebound along
with the sales volume of potash fertiliser products as the
market selling price of potash fertiliser products remained
weak. According to the General Administration of Customs
of the People’s Republic of China, the import volume of
KCL has increased by approximately 49% during the
period from January 2024 to March 2024 comparing to
the same period of last year. Such significant increase in
the supply of KCL in the domestic market has adversely
affected the market selling price of potash fertiliser
products during the last quarter of FY2024, and thus
affecting the net profit of the Group.

The Group’s total bank balances and cash increased from
approximately RMB365.7 million as at 31 March 2023 to
approximately RMB812.3 million as at 31 March 2024. This
increase in total bank balances and cash during FY2024
was primarily resulted from the proceeds from the initial
public offering.

As at 31 March 2024, the current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB3,860.5 million, primarily
consisting of trade and other receivables and prepayments
of approximately RMB2,428.2 million, and bank balances
and cash of approximately RMB812.3 million. Current
liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB1,822.1 million, primarily consisting of contract
liabilities of approximately RMB745.1 million and trade
and other payables of approximately RMB519.5 million.
As at 31 March 2024, the current ratio (the current assets
to current liabilities ratio) of the Group was 2.1 (31 March
2023: 1.6).
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As at 31 March 2024, the borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB545.2 million (31 March
2023: RMB244.7 million). The increase in borrowings was
mainly attributable to the increase in bank borrowings
to meet the business needs and the increase in other
borrowings from sale and leaseback arrangements in
relation to machinery leases. In July 2024, the bank loan
of RMB20.0 million obtained by the Group during FY2024
under a bank facility has been fully settled.

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, which
was calculated on the basis of the amount of total debt
as a percentage of the total equity attributable to owners
of the Company, was approximately 22.3% (31 March
2023: 24.7%). The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly
attributable to the increase in total equity attributable to
owners of the Company by the proceeds from the initial
public offering.

For FY2024, the -capital expenditures of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB10.7 million, which were
primarily used for the construction and development of
a warehousing and production centre of the Group in
Heilongjiang Province, the PRC.

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate carrying value of the
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and restricted
cash of the Group pledged for the Group’s bills payables
and/or deposits for letter of credits and/or the sales and
leaseback transactions was approximately RMB258.9
million (31 March 2023: RMB219.2 million).

MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 17
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Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual
report, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.

The Group will continue to explore different investment
opportunities bringing values to the Group. The Company’s
future plan in the coming year for material investments
and additions of capital assets is primarily related to
the improvement of production capacity and operational
efficiency. In the event that the Group makes material
investments in the future, further announcement(s) will
be made by the Company as and when appropriate and
necessary.

There were no significant investments held, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures during FY2024.

The functional currency of the Company is RMB. The
majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are
denominated in RMB. The Group also has certain cash
and bank balances denominated in United State dollars
and Hong Kong dollars, which would expose the Group to
foreign exchange risk. The Group currently does not have
any foreign currency hedging policies. The management
will continue to monitor the Group's foreign exchange risk
exposure and consider adopting prudent measures as
appropriate.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 November 2017 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Cayman Companies Act. The Group is a
national potash fertilizer company in China with sourcing
and procurement, and processing and manufacturing
capacities selling various potash fertilizer products,
including KCL, SOP, NOP and compound fertilisers.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for FY2024 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
are set out in the sections headed “Chairperson’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 18 of this annual report. Discussion and
information therein form part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS, DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
POLICY

The results of the Group for FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 73 of this
annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a
final dividend of RMBO0.061 per Share for FY2024. The total
amount is RMB55.4 million.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment
of dividends. The Company does not have any pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. Any amount of
dividends the Company pays will be at the discretion of the
Directors and will depend on the Group’s future operations
and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general
financial conditions, contractual restrictions and any other
factors that the Board may deem relevant.
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. \¥

EEGHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

TEMERRECFE

ARETREARLFREAFAGRRE LR
Z . AREIBRRELFEBN2024%8 A28H
(EH=) 20245 9A28 (EH—) (BIEER
WMHE) HEHE AR AR TS HIBERDEE
B MERMNBEXHREBREETER
20248 A27H (EH ) THFERK=Z+9&%X
RARRBBRNBFELIRBEBLEERLE
AR (it AFEBERE16HERE P D
1718) -

AETHREGRESEZARPRE (AFERER
BEBAFRSHIEERFTAIEE) ARRIBRRE
RTFEGH2024F9 A9 (2H—) 2202449
A128 (E28mM) (EaREmE) BEE - 5
AARRTEWERNERERL - TERNDA
PXHREBEREBETER2024F9H60 (£
HA) TFUB =+ RXARAREFBRMNBS
ERIPEEEBSFZLERAF (MU ABEBE
BIE1CHERESRABL7IE) o

PSR

AEEBENEAYRFENRERE  EER
BEMBENAFRE194E - AR TEE
B AMBRRO D -

SN

2024 B FHAR AR R R A E B F B H NG E
WIS RAR M 5E28 ©

e

AEERARENR2024 F FOFHEEBFBH
RiFE R B ER MG E M MR ST

20 kEEEZRARAT Y FF 2023/2024

N .

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlements to
attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 28 August 2024
to Monday, 2 September 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. All
Share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
Share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 27 August 2024.

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlements to
the proposed final dividend (subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 9 September
2024 to Thursday, 12 September 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will
be registered. All Share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant Share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6
September 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s operating results, assets and
liabilities for the last four financial years is set out on page
194 of this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during FY2024 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group
and of the Company during FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company's reserves, including
the share premium account and accumulated losses,
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Cayman Companies Act, amounted to approximately
RMB614.3 million.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of
environment protection and has not noted any material
incompliance with all relevant laws and regulations
in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.
The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity
and water according to actual needs, so as to reduce
energy consumption and minimize unnecessary waste.

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance are disclosed in the environmental, social
and governance report of the Company which is published
simultaneously with this annual report.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2024, the borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB545.2 million (31 March
2023: RMB244.7 million). Details of borrowings of the
Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the period from the Listing Date up to 31
March 2024.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made donations totaling approximately
RMB3,069,000 in FY2024, of which approximately
RMB2,889,000 was donated to the HKEX Foundation
Limited.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders of the Company by reason of
their holding of the Company’s securities.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in plant and equipment of
the Group during FY2024 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman lIslands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Group did not enter into any equity-linked agreements
during the period from the Listing Date and up to 31
March 2024.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During FY2024, the percentages of purchases from the
Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers were
36.6% and 68.0%, respectively. The percentages of sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers were 12.7% and 45.6%, respectively.

Beidahuang Group, a major customer of the Group during
FY2024, is a connected person of the Group since its
subsidiary, Heilongjiang Beidahuang, is a substantial
shareholder of Anda Migao and Baoging Migao.

Yunnan EuroChem, a major customer of the Group during
FY2024, is held as to 70% and 30% by EuroChem Migao
(a joint venture company of the Group) and a key tobacco
company customer of the Group, respectively.

As far as the Directors are aware, save for Mr. Liu's
beneficial interests in Yunnan EuroChem through EuroChem
Migao (a joint venture company of the Group), none of
the Directors, their close associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) nor any substantial shareholders have any
beneficial interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
of the Group.

.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During FY2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company in material
respects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
END

On 17 April 2024, the Over-allotment Option (as defined in
the Prospectus) was partially exercised by GF Securities
(Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited (for itself and on behalf
of the International Underwriters (as defined in the
Prospectus)) pursuant to which the Company raised
additional capital. Further details of the exercise of the
Over-allotment Option are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 17 April 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have any other significant events after 31 March 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The net proceeds from the listing of the Shares on the
Stock Exchange and the net proceeds from the partial
exercise of the Over-allotment Option (after deducting
underwriting fees and other related expenses) amounted
to approximately HK$798.6 million. As at 31 March 2024,
the Group has not utilized any proceeds. The proceeds
will be used in accordance with the intended purposes as
set out in the Prospectus.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company for FY2024 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Mr. Liu Guocai (Chairperson and chief executive officer)
Mr. Sun Pingfu (Research and development director)
Mr. Dong Benzi (Internal control director)

Mr. Chen Guofu
Ms. Huang Shasha
Ms. Qing Meyerson

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 41
in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, pursuant to which they have
agreed to act as the executive Directors for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed
term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company,
pursuant to which they have agreed to act as the
independent non-executive Directors for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has entered into any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during FY2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and
no contract of significance for the provision of services
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during FY2024 or subsisted at the end of
FY2024.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting
during or at the end of FY2024.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are decided by the Board with reference
to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.
Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of
the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

For FY2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has
waived any emoluments for FY2024.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been

made or are payable, for FY2024, by the Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2024, none of the Directors or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competed or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group, other than being a director of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does
not have any disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20,
13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and letters of
appointment, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or in existence as
at the end of FY2024 or at any time during FY2024.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

Save as disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, during FY2024, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the
Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their respective
connected persons.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
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to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules were
as follows:

R AT RAE
A B, ERME RHEBE BHEDIEE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares(” the Company®
2B A £ REZIEEE 2 B 675,000,000 (L) 75.00%
Mr. Liu Guocai® Interest in controlled corporation
Bat Notes:
(1) FELIEREARBRD TR - (1) The Letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

(2) B Migao BVIFETA B 1T H BAMigao
Barbados# %A ' MMigao BarbadosBl|HZ|
Bl S35 H - HUREE H REIERD] - 2B
7 %4 K Migao Barbados¥g iR A Migao
BV B AR A s o

(3) BOLLBIER2024F3 A31HE EHTRHD AR
#/900,000,0000% 51 & -

B EXXFTHEEIN - R2024F3831H AR
BEIRESTHA BB &SN AR Rk H AR
EE (FEERFBSHRLAEEFIEXVE) MG
HERORESFP  BEIWEAEEREE
H LG GO EXVEE 7 M8 D B A S AN A
REEZ Fre IS sk B (RIERIEES &
EEOEBIEXEEREFRRARENER
MAR) B RIEES R EIEFIE352187A
RSN ELMANERSIAE B REIEZ
AESFRIAMEG AR R REB R FTHERSSAR -
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(2) As all the issued shares of Migao BVI is held by Migao
Barbados which in turn is held by Mr. Liu Guocai, each
of Mr. Liu Guocai and Migao Barbados is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Migao BVI by virtue of the
SFO.

(3) The percentages were calculated based on the total
number of 900,000,000 issued Shares as at 31 March
2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than being a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

1h 72 B IR RE

R EE BHBEIHE
Approximate

percentage of

Name of substantial Number of shareholding in
Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares(” the Company®
Migao Barbados® REIEEE 2w 675,000,000 (L) 75.00%
Migao Barbados® Interest in controlled corporation

Migao BVI? BEmEBA 675,000,000 (L) 75.00%
Migao BVI® Beneficial owner

B 5T - Notes:

(1) FEILIEREDFARG ZTA -

2) BEAMigao BVIKIFTA B #/TRMEMigao
Barbados# 74 ' iMMigao Barbados 82|
Bl e HEHSA - BURIEE S KT ED - 21
Z %4 B Migao Barbadosig 48 AR Migao
BVIRFE RN PR -

(3) AN ER2024%3 431 A BTN &
£7900,000,000 A% 51 & -
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(1) The Letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

(2) As all the issued shares of Migao BVI is held by Migao
Barbados which in turn is held by Mr. Liu Guocai, each
of Mr. Liu Guocai and Migao Barbados is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Migao BVI by virtue of the

SFO.

(3) The percentages were calculated based on the total
number of 900,000,000 issued Shares as at 31 March
2024.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2024 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities
including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 441

employees. The total staff cost for FY2024 was
approximately RMB66.3 million, as compared to
approximately RMB61.7 million for FY2023. The

remuneration packages of the Group's employees are
determined with reference to individual qualification,
experience, performance, contribution to the Group
and prevailing market rate. The Group remunerates its
employees with basic salaries as well as performance-
based bonuses. The Group participates in a variety
of social security plans for its employees that are
administered by PRC local governments, including
housing, pension, medical insurance and unemployment
insurance, and the Group made contributions to employee
benefit plans for its employees as required by local
authorities in accordance with applicable PRC laws and
regulations in all material respects.

To ensure equal opportunities for all the Group’s
employees, the Group has implemented merit-based
promotion mechanism. The Group examines its employees’
performance regularly and promote its employees based
on their job performance. The Group also provides its
employees with a variety of trainings, which are tailored to
each job functions and a set of responsibilities to enhance
performance. Furthermore, the Group has established a
labor union for its employees, and each production facility
has a labor union head to collect feedback from local
employees.

The Group believes that it maintains a good working
relationship with the Group’s employees, and the Group
has not experienced any material labor disputes during
FY2024.

Annual Report 2023/2024 % MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 29



EEGHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

RIRERGTE

AEEETENEEATERFEENBEZRE
ERKBMENKE - PEEBAZETE
B — JE Lo Bl 1A R R A8 R ET B R - A 42 F
T ARBEHZFRAEBHNFAENE—RBR
RIBZAT B ZSHEITHR -

AEEERENEES M —BERGIEAES
g ([REestE]) BESHIAMNEELALR
SENEENR  HBUIRAEGNESR
B RERESE - HARB2EBTELRSE
BOEBAWANEEE DOLLAE - KAEBEEHR
RErr Bl —RBER/REBEEES S EEL A

==
K o

ARRMBRKSEEFBERARERRA Y
WEM 29 -

BEXS

B T XAttt KFRIERHE HE (EER T
BIRGSETR FIN - R2024 FHIE - A&
BARETEMAARELTRAUNEV4ATFE AR
RENRENBEXIFAFERERS - AR
FRET EMRAEUAERENREER

EATREREED=
R2024F2H29H AR EIXRRERE
HIRBEIVIEREEHE ([ ARELRHEED
BB AEBEKEIRKTREERENRE
EM e

30 KEEMERARAT ¥ 1R 2023/2024

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC employees are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

The Group’'s employees in Hong Kong participate in a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
which the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control
of independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
contributions are made based on a percentage of the
participating employees’ relevant income from the Group
and the only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the MPF Scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as the transactions contemplated under the
Beidahuang Framework Sales Agreement (as defined
below) as set out below, during FY2024, the Group had
not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are not exempt from annual
reporting requirement in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 29 February 2024, the Company and Beidahuang
Modern Agricultural Services entered into a framework sale
agreement (“Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement’),
pursuant to which, the Group will supply potash fertiliser
products to Beidahuang Group.
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Major terms of such agreement are summarised below:

HAmR :

Term:

HEE ML
Supply of potash

fertiliser products:

—l]

EE

Pricing:

ZARR

Payment terms:

Termination:

IARFEREERE A LT HEEZE2026F12 A31BAX
The Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement shall commence from the Listing Date to
31 December 2026

AEBERBEENEERSE TIERTEE
The Group agrees to sell the Group’s potash fertiliser products to Beidahuang Group

AEBEHEREFICEMNER  B2E()ASERUREERNESL EE : (i) REEMAR
BYE =77 (REERIEAREBRIN) SHERLFIEERNER © (i) BURLERNER
ME  R(v)ERZEEZEZR R EMRANRE (F) MEE

REERE  KMNWEEMNEEBRATEE RAKREHER—REBBEFRES
S EEREGTRRIL - EREASRERRR N ERT S

The price at which the Group will sell its potash fertiliser products shall be determined
with reference to (i) the Group’s historical selling price of similar potash fertiliser
products; (ii) its selling price of similar potash fertiliser products to independent third
parties other than the Group and Beidahuang Group during the same period; (iii) the
domestic market price of similar potash fertiliser products; and (iv) the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations and the Listing Rules (if any)

For the avoidance of doubt, the selling price of the potash fertiliser products shall
be fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms or better and in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, and in the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole

BEILATREREE HHE  BEEAEENEEREGRNMBENRERBERSERZSIL
BB & R S

All payments in relation to the sale of the Group's potash fertiliser products pursuant
to the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement shall be payable in accordance to
terms of the individual contracts entered into for each transaction

IIARFEREERZHEEEY  BER()VIEARERBESEH=EER  (NEEFEBMRER
1E 5 (i ERBEEEM S E BIER S MBI R TE AL 5 (iv) B R PTEHE KORIE RIS &
ETHERER LR - WEISREE © S(v)IERITIERIEE s R H e R R &
RHRERE ETHRABRE

The Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement shall continue to be in force until (i)
the expiry of the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement; (ii) termination by mutual
agreement of the parties in writing; (iii) termination by laws, regulations, or the
determination of a competent court or arbitration institution; (iv) the waiver from
the Stock Exchange in relation to the continuing connected transactions under
the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement having been invalidated, withdrawn
or revoked; or (v) the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement and the continuing
connected transactions therein failed to satisfy the requirements under the Listing
Rules
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It is beneficial to enter into the Beidahuang Framework
Sale Agreement as the transactions contemplated therein
have facilitated, and will continue to facilitate, the overall
operations and growth of the Group’'s business. It is
also expected that the transactions contemplated under
the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement will further
deepen the Group’s collaboration and ensure efficient
cooperation between the Group and Beidahuang Group.
A long-term framework sale arrangement with Beidahuang
Group ensures a stable demand of the Group’s potash
fertiliser products, which provides a great level of certainty
in the Group’s business growth and future strategic and
operational planning.

The total annual sale amount to Beidahuang Group by the
Group under the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement
for FY2024 was RMB478.3 million, which did not exceed
the estimated annual cap of RMB838.0 million for FY2024.
The estimated total annual sale amount to Beidahuang
Group by the Group under the Beidahuang Framework
Sale Agreement will not exceed RMB879.0 million and
RMB923.0 million for each of the two years ending 31
March 2025 and 2026, respectively.

Beidahuang Modern Agricultural Services is the immediate
holding company of Heilongjiang Beidahuang, which is in
turn a substantial shareholder of the Group’s subsidiaries,
and therefore, Beidahuang Modern Agricultural
Services and its subsidiaries are connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Beidahuang
Framework Sale Agreement will constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules upon Listing. As such, the
Group has applied to the Stock Exchange, and the Stock
Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance
with the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.105
in respect of the transactions underlying the Beidahuang
Framework Sale Agreement, on the basis that (i) the
Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that (a) the transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of the Company’s business, are conducted on
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normal commercial terms or better, and the terms of
which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole; and (b) the
annual caps for the transactions are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole; and (ii) the Company will comply with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules apart from the announcement requirement for which
the waiver has been sought.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement and confirmed
that:

(1). the transactions carried out during FY2024 had
been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Beidahuang Framework Sale
Agreement;

(2). other than the Beidahuang Framework Sale
Agreement, no new contracts had been entered
into, renewed and/or reproduced between the
Group and Beidahuang Modern Agricultural
Services during FY2024; and

(8). the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement had
been entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, are on normal commercial
terms and are fair and reasonable so far as the
Group is concerned, and in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s
Letter on continuing connected transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors
have issued its unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for
FY2024 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.

None of the related party transactions constituted a
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
subject to independent Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Board,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital held by the public as required under the
Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are
entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain in or about the
execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided
that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such
Director. The Company has purchased and maintained
Directors’ liability insurance immediately after the Listing,
which provides appropriate coverage for the Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by
the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 42 to 65.
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EEEHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
Since the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 21 March 2024, the Model Code
was not applicable to the Company before the Listing
Date. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the period from the Listing Date up to the date of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors since the Listing
Date. The consolidated financial statements for FY2024
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Certified Public Accountants, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Guocai
Chairperson,
Director

Chief Executive Officer and Executive

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Guocai (2lEl7), aged 59, is an executive
Director, the chairperson of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Group, responsible for the overall
strategic planning and day-to-day business operation of
the Group.

Mr. Liu serves as a director of Malaysia Migao, Malaysia
Migao International and HK Migao. Mr. Liu also serves
as a director and the chief executive officer of Singapore
Migao. Mr. Liu has over 15 years of experience in the
production, trading, research and development of
chemical fertilisers and related projects. Prior to founding
the Group in 2003, from September 1993 to June 2003,
he served as the general manager of Liaoning Chemical
Industry Import and Export Corporation of the Shenyang
Branch (EE&H(LBTEEN O RAREEDAF]), a company
principally engaged in the import and export of chemical
products.

Mr. Liu obtained a university diploma in industrial and
civil architecture from Jianghan Petroleum Institute (now
known as Yangtze University) in July 1987, and a post-
graduate diploma in economics from Liaoning University
in June 1999. He also obtained a Master of Business
Administration at California American University in January
2002. He was certified as a construction engineer by the
Personnel Department of Liaoning Province ((EZE4 AEEE)
of the PRC in August 1992.

Mr. Sun Pingfu (¥ %8), aged 59, is an executive Director
and the research and development director of the Group,
responsible for supervising domestic and international
research collaborations and leading technological
development efforts.

Mr. Sun serves as a director of Malaysia Migao, Malaysia
Migao International and Migao Century (Chengdu). Mr.
Sun also serves as the general manager of Sichuan
Migao. Mr. Sun has over 30 years of experience in
technology development, production management and
project management in the chemical industry. Prior to
joining the Group, from July 1984 to March 2007, he
worked as a research analyst at the Luoyang Economic
and Technological Research Centre (&5 &EHIil
itz L), and has worked at chemical plants such as
Sichuan General Chemical Plant (P9)Il{t Z4®) and
other companies principally engaged in the production
of fertiliser products, including Chuanhua Weizhisu Co.,
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Ltd. JIMEBR 2 ZHBR A7) and Mianyang Vanetta Chemical
Industrial Co., Ltd. (f&EEEEZENLITAERAF). From
September 2007 to December 2015, Mr. Sun served as
the head of the technology research and development
department of Sichuan Migao.

Mr. Sun graduated from the University of Science
and Technology of Chengdu (now known as Sichuan
University) with an undergraduate degree in chemical
engineering in July 1984. Mr. Sun obtained his chemical
engineer qualification from the Personnel Department of
Sichuan Province in January 1993.

Mr. Dong Benzi (EZA#¥), aged 34, is an executive
Director and the internal control director of the Group,
responsible for the management of the internal controls of
the Group.

Mr. Dong also serves as the head of finance at Daxing
Migao. Mr. Dong joined the Group in July 2010, where he
served as an accountant and internal control officer of
Sichuan Migao. From May 2013 to September 2016, he
served as the head of finance and internal control director
at Zunyi Migao.

Mr. Dong obtained a diploma in accounting from Xihua
University in June 2011.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Guofu (PREI%E), aged 73, is an independent
non-executive Director, responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Chen has over 40 years of experience in chemical
industry. From November 1984 to September 1999, Mr.
Chen served at several government departments and
state-owned enterprises, including as the deputy director
and director of the secretariat, the director of the general
office of the Ministry of Chemical Industry of the PRC (¥
#EARLIMELE T3, now known as the State Bureau
of Petroleum and Chemical Industry of the PRC (F#EA
REMBERAHMEETERE), the deputy secretary of
the Committee of the Communist Party of China (the “CPC
Committee”) of China Chemical Engineering Corporation
(FELE IR ANF]), now known as China National
Chemical Engineering Group Corporation Ltd. (L& T
FREE®AR AR and the deputy head of the Haixi Mongol
Tibetan Autonomous Prefecture of Qinghai Province (&
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R ERSEEEEEEAM). From September 1999 to
December 2010, Mr. Chen also served as the deputy
secretary of the CPC Committee and the deputy general
manager of the Sinopec Group Material Equipment Co.,
Ltd. (FEIA{EEEMEEEAR]). Mr. Chen has been
working in the China Inorganic Salts Industry Association
(FEEME TE) (“CISIA") since August 2013. He
was the vice president and secretary general of CISIA
and Potassium Industry Sub-council (SREESFIEITED =)
from September 2015 and was elected as the honorary
president of CISIA in December 2021.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor of engineering from the
East China Institute of Chemical Engineering (2®{tT
Bft), now known as East China University of Science
and Technology (ZERIEZT KEZ) in January 1977. He is
qualified as a senior engineer in December 1995 by the
then Ministry of Chemical Industry of the PRC (FhZE A Rt
MBYLE T XER).

Ms. Huang Shasha (E3%35), aged 46, is an independent
non-executive Director, responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgement to the Board.

Ms. Huang has substantial experience in equity
investments and capital markets. From November 2009
to October 2018, Ms. Huang was employed by ICBC
International Holdings Limited and her last position
was executive director in the equity capital markets
department of the corporate finance and capital market
services division. Since November 2018, Ms. Huang has
been serving as the managing director of the investments
bank department of Mirae Asset Securities (HK) Limited,
a subsidiary of Mirae Asset Securities Co., Ltd which is
listed on the Korea Stock Exchange (stock code: 6800.
KS).

Ms. Huang obtained a bachelor of business administration
at the Noordelijke Hogeschool Leeuwarden in the
Netherlands in January 2003, a master of environmental
business administration MBA at the University of Twente
in the Netherlands in June 2004, and a master of business
administration at the University of Oxford in June 2009.

Ms. Qing Meyerson, aged 58, is an independent non-
executive Director, responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to the Board.
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Ms. Meyerson has over 25 years of experience in
strategic planning, financial reporting and operation
management in various industries, including public
accounting, pharmaceutical and automotive industries.
From September 1999 to September 2008 and from
October 2008 to May 2011, Ms. Meyerson was employed
by KPMG LLP in the U.S. and KPMG Huazhen in the PRC,
respectively, and her last position was senior manager in
the audit department. Ms. Meyerson then joined General
Motors Company (“GM”) with her last position being the
president and chief financial officer of FAW-GM, a joint
venture between GM and First Automobile Works, from
June 2011 to June 2017. From June 2017 to April 2020,
Ms. Meyerson was the head of finance and administration
of the PRC and Hong Kong arms of Bristol-Myers Squibb,
a multinational pharmaceutical company and she was
the global finance leader of Bristol-Myers Squibb -
Celgene acquisition integration team from April 2020 to
August 2021. From December 2022 to January 2024, Ms.
Meyerson served as the chief financial officer of Hasten
Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a biopharmaceutical start-
up in the PRC. Since February 2024, Ms. Meyerson has
been serving as an independent nonexecutive director of
The Planting Hope Company Inc., a foodtech innovation
company listed on TSX Venture Exchange (stock code:
MYLK) and the OTCQB Venture Market (stock code:
MYLKEF).

Ms. Meyerson obtained a bachelor of science in
accounting at Monmouth University in the U.S. in
January 1999. Ms. Meyerson has been a certified public
accountant of the New Jersey State Board of Accountancy
since March 2001, and a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since December 2002.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Liu Yaqin (2IKZ), aged 69, is the chief financial
officer of the Group, responsible for the overall financial
and capital management of the Group. Ms. Liu is also
responsible for the financial reporting, internal audit and
internal control management of the Group.

Ms. Liu serves as a director of Changchun Migao, and a
supervisor of Anda Migao and Baoging Migao. She also
serves as the deputy general manager and the head of
finance of Guangdong Migao, deputy general manager
and the head of finance of Changchun Migao. Ms. Liu has
over 35 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Liu was the
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head of accounting of Liaoning Yongcheng Economy &
Trade Development Co., Ltd. GEE XKL ZEERE AR A A]),
a company principally engaged in the import and export
of chemicals and fertilisers, from June 2000 to May 2004.

Ms. Liu obtained an assistant accountant qualification
certificate issued by the Liaoning Province of the
Department of Finance and the Office of Personnel in April
1988.

Mr. Fu Yangmei ({435 3), aged 59, is the sales director of
the Group responsible for the domestic sales of the potash
products of the Group.

Mr. Fu serves as a director of Daxing Migao, and a vice
chairperson of the board at Daxing Migao. Mr. Fu joined
the Group in June 2004 where he served as a deputy
general manager of the sales department of Sichuan
Migao. From June 2010 to October 2021, he served as
the general manager of Zunyi Migao. From August 2018 to
June 2020, he served as a director of Yunnan EuroChem,
where he was responsible for the product sales. Mr. Fu
has around 20 years of experience in the fertiliser industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fu served various positions
including manager of the sales department of Guizhou
Zunyi Soda Plant Zhucheng Chemical Factory (E/N%& &
FEMMEHN L TR), a factory engaged in the production
of chemical products, from September 1983 to December
2003.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma in administration management
from Guizhou University in June 2000.

Mr. Liu Xuebin (2/2#), aged 50, is the head of
production (Northern region of China) of the Group,
responsible for the overall production management in the
Northern region of China.

Mr. Liu serves as the general manager of Changchun
Migao. He joined the Group in January 2006 as the head
of production of Guangdong Migao and was the head of
production of Changchun Migao from December 2007
to April 2008. Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience
in the production, operation and project management of
chemical fertilisers. Prior to joining the Group, he was a
production workshop leader of Heilongjiang Qihua Chlor-
alkali Plant (B#ET4A B EMM) from August 1991 to July
2000, and a production workshop leader of Heilongjiang
Qihua Potassium Sulphate Plant (Z#ELEE{LIRBELIRE)
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from July 2000 to June 2006 where he participated in the
construction of potassium sulphate plant and equipment
installation, and was responsible for formulating the
operational plan and procedures of potassium sulphate
production.

Mr. Liu obtained an instrument professional diploma ({%
KREER) in chemical instrument from Heilongjiang
Qigihar Labour Bureau Technical School (2E/IEEM
BB BHEA) in July 1992 and a professional diploma in
chemical technology from Heilongjiang Qigihar Television
Broadcasting University (BEIEBRMBEREERE) in
August 1992.

Mr. Shi Wenguo (AMEE), aged 53, is the head of
production (Southern region of China) of the Group,
responsible for the overall production management in the
Southern region of China.

Mr. Shi serves as the general manger of Yunnan
EuroChem. Mr. Shi has over 19 years of experience in the
production of fertiliser products. From September 1993
to December 2015, he served various position at Luliang
Longhai Chemical Co., Ltd. (BERZESELTIHERETAA),
a company principally engaged in production and sale of
fertiliser products, such as the plant manager of a nitrogen
fertiliser plant, deputy general manager, general manager
and deputy chief of the relocation and construction
department. Mr. Shi joined the Group in January 2016 and
was seconded to Yunnan EuroChem where he served as
the chief engineer and later as the deputy manager of the
manufacture department.

Mr. Shi obtained a diploma in mechanical and electrical
engineering from Yunnan Radio and Television University
(EMEESIAKXE) (now known as Yunnan Open University
(ZmMABKAE)) in July 1993. He also obtained an engineer
qualification from the Personnel Department of Qujing city
in July 2004.
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for FY2024.

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes
that Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term
and that its employees, those with whom it does business
and the communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs
with a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The
Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust
corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

returns to

- satisfactory and sustainable

Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the
Company are safeguarded; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to being a transparent and responsible organization
which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The
Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange as its own
code of corporate governance practices.

Since the Shares were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 21 March 2024, the Corporate
Governance Code were not applicable to the Company
before the Listing Date. Throughout the period from
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, in the
opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the relevant code provisions contained in the Corporate
Governance Code, save for deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Board
will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim of maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance.
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EXERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the responsibilities between the
chairperson and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Group does not have a separate
chairperson and chief executive officer as Mr. Liu Guocai
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairperson and chief executive
officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the
Group. The Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired
and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively given that
(i) decisions to be made by the Board requires approval
by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out
of six Directors and the Group believes there is sufficient
check and balance on the Board; (ii) Mr. Liu Guocai and
the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among
other things, that he/she acts for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions of
the Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals who
meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations
of the Group. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairperson of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when
it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 43



TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Exg

ARAPHITZERNESTERE  EFEERA
BEREFEARTANELT  XIHFABEEER
EBARREBIAREAREKY - EEFE
HWAEL & AR R SKENRAARE -

EXERERARRIEBMRZRE KB
ZIEHEREFE  TEHRBRISEFTAAR
AETEREMBNHNER  UREZRS
BRARAKHEETHEHBEREZERE &=
EPHTEERBUFNTEENAADE
FEESABARNNBILITE @ WA BMIE
Y8 7 1 o

EXoHAMA6RESTAN  BEILRUTES
NIBBIIFFPITES - EFGMMAKIT -

BIBA SRk (EERITEAE)
R EEL (HEEE
EARSE (AAEHAEE)

PREQAE SCE
ESI 3
Qing MeyersonZ =&

EEREEH R 2024 FFIRFEICEEFL41H
[BEENSREREER ] —F -

BRAFRATEEEI
it 2 PRI R 2 -

EELRAEEABRR

44 XEEELRARAT Y FH 2023/2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
assumes responsibility for its leadership and control and
be collectively responsibility for promoting the Company’s
success by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. Directors take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business and regularly reviews the contribution
required from a Director to perform his/her responsibilities
to the Company and whether the Director is spending
sufficient time performing them that are commensurate
with their role and the Board responsibilities. The Board
includes a balanced composition of executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors so that there is
a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting
of three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The composition of the Board is as
follows:

Mr. Liu Guocai (Chairperson and chief executive officer)
Mr. Sun Pingfu (Research and development director)
Mr. Dong Benzi (Internal control director)

Mr. Chen Guofu
Ms. Huang Shasha
Ms. Qing Meyerson

The biographical information of the Directors is set out
in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 36 to 41 of this annual report for
FY2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors and members of senior management are related
to other Directors or members of senior management.
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No Board meeting, board committees meeting or general
meeting was held by the Company from the Listing Date
to 31 March 2024 as the Shares were only listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 21 March 2024.
Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, one Board meeting, two Audit Committee
meetings, one Nomination Committee meeting, one
Remuneration Committee and one ESG Committee
meeting were held. All Directors and members of the
said committees attended the aforementioned meetings,
respectively.

Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the chairperson of the Board also held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.

Going forward, the Board will meet regularly and Board
meetings will be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of regular Board
meetings are served to all of the Directors at least 14 days
before the meetings. For other Board and Board committee
meetings, reasonable notices were generally given.
Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary
of the Company with copies circulated to all Directors or
Board committee members for information and records
within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting.
Directors who have conflicts of interest in a resolution are
required to abstain from voting.
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From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report,
the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing more
than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in
respect of his/her independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

The Company established a Board independence
evaluation mechanism which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on
the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’
interests. The objectives of the evaluation are to improve
Board effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify
the areas that need improvement or further development.
Pursuant to the Board independence evaluation
mechanism, the Board will conduct annual review on its
independence. From the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report, the Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the mechanism and found the results
satisfactory.

Code B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates
that every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The procedures and process of
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set
out in the Articles of Association.
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In accordance with Article 15 of the Articles of Association,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.
A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
annual general meeting at which he retires and shall be
eligible for re-election at such meeting. Accordingly, Mr.
Liu Guocai and Mr. Sun Pingfu will retire from office by
rotation at the AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All  Directors, including executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,

seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal
and comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the
Company may periodically provide updated written
training materials on the roles, functions and duties of a
director of a company listed on the Stock Exchange.
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All Directors attended the trainings on the obligations of
a Hong Kong listed company and its directors given by
the Company’s then Hong Kong legal advisers prior to the
Listing. Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date

TEER BEIXZFRAFRBERZINEI - 5 of this annual report, the Company arranged a training
SFEEE B T - on topics relating to corporate governance, connected
transactions and discloseable transactions given by its
Hong Kong legal advisers, the training records of which
are summarised as follows:
ek EEEMH
Attending Reading regulatory
EEnE Name of Directors training session materials
HITES Executive Directors
IR A £ Mr. Liu Guocai v v
HE@EE Mr. Sun Pingfu v v
ERANED e Mr. Dong Benzi v v
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
PR g 5T A Mr. Chen Guofu v v
33 Ms. Huang Shasha v v
Qing Meyerson# & Ms. Qing Meyerson 4 v

EE2AERTC(REERTR) TS
A2 1IEFTE 2 BAE -

EFZSRIADFANGEESHELRER &

EREREEENEIIRBEEXER A2
BIEE TR REARATE T R BR R ERIA R
ARBET(EEE AT REEERRER
BREOER
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The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code.

The Board would
governance policies

review the Company’'s corporate

and practices, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors
and senior management, the Company’'s policies, and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and the Company’s compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in its
Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and ESG Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of
the Company are established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange's website and are available to the Shareholders
upon request.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs.

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance, experience,
responsibility, workload and time devoted to the Company
and comparable market statistics. Each of the executive
Directors is entitled to a basic salary of HKD180,000
per annum and each of the independent non-executive
Directors is entitled to a basic salary of HKD360,000 per
annum, which are all subject to revision in future by the
decision of the Board based on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee.

In addition, each of the executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors may receive a
discretionary bonus as the Board may recommend.
Such amount has to be approved by the Remuneration
Committee. The remuneration package further includes
other allowances, benefits in kind and defined
contributions.

The list of the chairperson and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 2 of this annual report.
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The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Qing Meyerson, Mr. Chen
Guofu and Ms. Huang Shasha. Ms. Qing Meyerson is the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee has reviewed, among
others, the annual results and report for FY2024, the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function,
performed its other duties under its terms of reference
and the effectiveness of its internal control and risk
management systems.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Ms. Huang Shasha, Mr. Chen Guofu and Mr.
Dong Benzi. Ms. Huang Shasha is the chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
Corporate Governance Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include determining, with
delegated responsibility, or making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and
senior management; reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules; and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee has evaluated
and reviewed the performance, the remuneration policy
and the remuneration packages of executive Directors and
senior management and made relevant recommendations
to the Board.

The remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management by band for FY2024 is set out below:

AE
FWA Annual Income Number of Persons
Z%1,000,000/8 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 9
B35 1,000,000/8 7T Over HK$1,000,000 1
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The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Liu Guocai, Mr. Chen Guofu and Ms.
Huang Shasha. Mr. Liu Guocai is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
Corporate Governance Code. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and succession planning of the
Directors, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy (as defined below). In assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee would take into
account, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider
candidates on merit and against the objective criteria, with
due regard for the benefits diversity on the Board.
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Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee has assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
considered the re-election of Directors and reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, and
has conducted an annual review of the Board Diversity
Policy and concluded the current Board composition is
sufficiently diverse.

The ESG Committee consist of two executive Directors, Mr.
Liu Guocai and Mr. Sun Pingfu, and a senior management,
Mr. Liu Xuebin. Mr. Liu Guocai is the chairperson of the
ESG Committee.

The main duties of the ESG Committee are to assist the
Board to oversee ESG governance, ensure implementation
of ESG policies, monitor ESG-related performance and
targets, adjust ESG strategies as appropriate and oversee
the preparation of the ESG report.

Subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report, the ESG Committee has reviewed the
Company’s ESG risks, strategies, goals and corporate
governance, ensured the Board's compliance with
ESG disclosure regulations, discussed and assessed
greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption
with the Company’'s ESG consultant, and reviewed the
progress of the Company's greenhouse gas reduction
plan.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board and is available on the
website of the Company. The Company recognizes the
importance of diversity of the Board as it promotes board
effectiveness and enable better decisions to be made due
to the lessened risk of group thinking.

Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Nomination
Committee has primary responsibility for identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of the
Board and shall give adequate consideration to the board
diversity policy in selection of Board candidates. Board
nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time
while taking into account diversity.
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board to maintain high
standards of corporate governance.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that
the Board is sufficiently diverse and selection of board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs, including but not limited to
gender, race, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional
experience.

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view
that the current composition of the Board has achieved the
objectives set in the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels
of the Group. Currently, the Board consists of two female
Directors and four male Directors, and the Group’s chief
executive officer is male. The Board aimed to have at
least one female Director and has achieved this target,
considering the current gender diversity on the Board
satisfactory. The Board will continue to prioritize gender
diversity in future appointments but has not set specific
targets or timelines, as it believes that all aspects of
diversity should be considered when selecting Directors.
This approach to gender diversity also applies to the
Group’s workforce, including senior management.



T%ﬁﬂ#zozz@sﬂ 31H ' AEBBRREES
ehEREREENNESERILG

ERERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The following table sets out the gender ratio in the Group’s
workforce, including the Board and senior management,
as at 31 March 2024:

g A= BEMESL

Female Percentage Male Percentage

(#8) (#8)

(number) (number)

B5e Board 33.3% 66.7%
2 4

BREEE Senior Management 25.0% 75.0%
1 3

HifE 8 Other employees 32.0% 68.0%
138 293

Bt (BRES) Overall (Directors included) 32.0% 68.0%
(141) (300)
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The Group will implement policies to ensure gender
diversity when recruiting staff, aiming to develop a pipeline
of female senior management. The Group will strive to
enhance female representation and achieve a balanced
gender diversity, considering stakeholders’ expectations
and best practices. The Group focuses on identifying and
training female staff with leadership potential for promotion
to senior management. However, the Group does not
currently set specific gender target for its workforce.
As an equal opportunity employer, the Group considers
other relevant factors in hiring decisions, believing the
current gender ratio is suitable for the Group’s business
model and operational needs. Details on the gender ratio
of the Group can be found in the ESG report published
concurrently with this annual report.
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The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority
for selection and appointment of the Directors to the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination
policy which sets out the selection criteria and
nomination process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment
of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the
Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The director nomination policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following:

(1) Character and integrity;

(2) Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience;

(3) Diversity in all aspects as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy;

(4) Requirements of independent non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and

(5) Commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest to discharge duties as a member
of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

The director nomination policy also sets out the
procedures for the selection and appointment of new
Directors and re-election of the Directors at general
meetings.
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The nomination process set out in the director nomination
policy is as follows:

(1). to assess such candidate’'s qualifications, skills,
knowledge, ability and experience and also
potential time commitment and attention to perform
the Director’s duties;

(2). to assess such candidate’s personal ethics, integrity
and reputation (including without limitation to
conduct appropriate background checks and other
verification processes against such candidate);

(3). with reference to the Company’'s Board Diversity
Policy (as adopted and amended by the Board
from time to time), to take into account the then
current structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Company’s corporate strategy, with due
regard for the benefits of the appropriate diversity
of the Board and also such candidate’s potential
contributions thereto;

(4). in case of a candidate for an independent non-
executive Director, to assess: (i) the independence
of such candidate with reference to, among other
things, the independence criteria as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the guidance and
requirements relating to independent non-executive
Directors set out in Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Guide for Boards and
Directors; and

(5). to consider any other factors and matters as the
Nomination Committee may consider appropriate.

the director
ensure its

The Nomination Committee will review
nomination policy, as appropriate, to
effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including research and development
management, sales and marketing, financial reporting,
human resources and information system management.

Under the Company’'s risk management and internal
control systems, all business departments of the Company
are responsible to collect information, analyze the
corresponding risks and formulate the corresponding
internal control system according to the risks. The internal
audit department of the Group (the ‘Internal Audit
Department”’) and the Audit Committee are responsible for
evaluating the effect of risk management.

All divisions/departments conducted internal control
assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially
impact the business of the Group and various aspects
including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security. Self-
evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that
control policies are properly complied with by each
division/department.
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The management, in coordination with division/
department heads, assessed the likelihood of risk
occurrence, provided treatment plans, and monitored
the risk management progress, and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for FY2024.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for
performing independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems. The Internal Audit Department examined key
issues in relation to the fraud risk and provided its findings
to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the management report and
the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for FY2024, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.
Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns such as bribery, financial impropriety or other
matters of the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy
to safeguard against corruption and bribery within the
Company. The Company has an internal reporting channel
that is open and available for employees of the Company
to report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees
can also make reports to the internal anti-corruption
department/internal audit function, which is responsible for
investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-
corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture
of integrity and ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption
and anti-bribery.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have
been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and
use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for
FY2024.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in
accordance with the HKFRS issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies have also been used and applied
consistently except the adoption of revised standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statement of the independent auditors of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 66 to 72 of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The external auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
provided audit and review services for the Group.
Additionally, they conducted non-audit services, including
ESG-related assurance.

A breakdown of the remuneration payable to the external
auditors of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of relevant services for FY2024 is set
out below:

e ERER

RisESE Service Category Fees paid/payable
(AREEFT)

(RMB’000)

ZERTE Audit Services 2,701
FERZBURTS Non-audit Services 574
st (ffat) Total (Note) 3,275

Btat © BAANAT2024 F IR AFHBEEEN BN
KRAG RS TAIES R E R A S 5THETTH
BEBERAARKEIOIHETT
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Note: The professional fees paid/payable to the reporting
accountants of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in connection with the initial public offering of
the Company for FY2024 amounted to RMB9.01 million.



REAWE

BEERLTTHR2022F3 A23HELZ T ARRAR]
R A RFUE -

BELRFEBXABARAR (FPHEHE
BED  EERREERBNEHEXRER
) EERG A= RLIE - WREEME R
BEEBFER  —ER/BALTMARMNUEE
C LA RIRSNA AR E R DR RS o

BEZLEBEABIMEZR ETRAAINRQE MW
E ZEQABEAEBXBROERAE (&
MARSE : 6820) - RERESE (BRHARR
6100) » B BIER AR A 7 (BB RS
337) - BEEREREEE (IRMHMRIE : 9955)
KR B IE A E RS A TR A 7 (AR 5% -
1728) » WABR EWARFEINTE L RE
AWM D BR AR (BRMHRSE : 8329)
BEVE R M AR AT (RO - 9885) K )l|
MeEREmBEZRknBR AR (RHRR
6990) A HE N R ME ©

BT AEBRATVAEAS (MBEBEFWE
ANE) REFEFHFARDAEASHIEFTNE - 2
AR E 8 - B LHR2008F 11 ARSE
BT ABNEESTMAGABELEM -

PEEFHNESERINEXERANESTS
1B R F 7577 m o2 aE M iR o 202481 4 -
B ERE EHARRNE3 292N T EiB15/)
FEEREXRE - BB RS MBREFEKE
FERBLLINEZRRBEA -

Annual Report 2023/2024

EXERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Fung Wai Sum (J5Z#X) was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 23 March 2022.

Ms. Fung is a senior manager of Corporate Services of
Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services. She has over 20 years of experience in
the corporate secretarial field in providing professional
corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well
as multinational, private and offshore companies.

Ms. Fung is currently the company secretary of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, namely, FriendTimes
Inc. (REEFIRMDABERAT]) (stock code: 6820), Tongdao
Liepin Group ([FEHIEEE) (stock code: 6100),
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (4kith & B 1ZERRGRR
‘A\]) (stock code: 337), ClouDr Group Limited (% ZffE
Rl £ E) (stock code: 9955) and China ZhengTong Auto
Services Holdings Limited (FEIE@BTERFIERERAD
A]) (stock code: 1728), and the joint company secretary
of listed companies on the Stock Exchange, namely,
Shenzhen Neptunus Interlong Bio-techniqgue Company
Limited (RIS ETRIFEEMEMBHERAA]) (stock
code: 8329), YSB Inc. (ZEAIERMKH AR AF]) (stock code:
9885) and Sichuan Kelun-Biotech Biopharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (W BHmiEREYEEERHBR A F])(stock code
6990).

Ms. Fung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an Associate of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom. Ms. Fung obtained her master's degree
in professional accounting and corporate governance from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2008.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
Ms. Fung on corporate governance and board practices
and matters. During FY2024, Ms. Fung has taken more
than 15 hours of relevant professional training according
to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Ma Chun Lung, the
financial controller of HK Migao, is the primary corporate
contact person of Ms. Fung.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with the Shareholders through
various communication channels.

To safeguard the Shareholder interests and rights,
separate resolution should be proposed for each
substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of individual Director. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. One or more members holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less
than one-tenth of the voting rights in the share capital of
the Company may also make a requisition to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, by written requisition to
the Board or the secretary of the Company for purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the consideration of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Articles of Association for
convening a general meeting.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Companies Act or the Articles of Association. Members
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting following the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.
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For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (For the
attention of the company secretary of the Company)

Email: is-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors
(or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

According to the written resolutions passed by the then
Shareholders on 28 February 2024, the amended and
restated memorandum of association (the “Memorandum
of Association”) and the Articles of Association has been
adopted with effect from the Listing Date. The updated
version of the Memorandum of Association and the Articles
of Association is available on the websites of the Company
and Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed, there had been
no other changes in constitutional documents of the
Company from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report.
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The Company has in place a Shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. During FY2024, the Board
has reviewed the Shareholders’ communication policy and
considered that the policy was effectively implemented
with the measures as disclosed under the paragraph
headed “Communication with Shareholders and Investors/
Investor Relations”.

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the
Listing Rules will be provided to Shareholders and
non-registered holders of the Company’s securities
in both English and Chinese versions. Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company's
securities shall have the right to choose the
language (either English or Chinese) or means of
receipt of the Corporate Communication (in printed
form or through electronic means).

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about
their shareholdings to the Company’'s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited.

Any information or documents of the Company
posted on the Stock Exchange’'s website will
also be published on the Company’'s website
(www.migaogroup.com). Company shall update
information on the Company’s website from time to
time.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend
and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where
appropriate or required, the chairperson of the
Board and other Board members, the chairpersons
of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of
the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if

any).
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Investor/analysts  briefings, roadshows (both
domestic and international), media interviews,
marketing activities for investors and specialist
industry forums etc. will be launched on a required
basis.

The Company adopted a dividend policy on
payment of dividends. The Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions, operational
needs, capital requirements and factors of the
Company and the Group as set out in the dividend
policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared
by the Board during a financial year.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MIGAO GROUP
HOLDINGS LIMITED

CREEBEEZERERQR)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Migao Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 73 to 193, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. The matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

HEEREE
Key audit matter

B 5 RABREYRERER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and unbilled receivables
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We identified the impairment assessment of trade
and unbilled receivables as a key audit matter due to
the significance of trade and unbilled receivables to
the Group’s consolidated financial position and the
assessment of expected credit loss (“ECL”) involved
of estimation uncertainty.
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AR BABRUBEEANTREH A A - R8T
EERBEEENELENE  WEESE  FEEBEIFHER
AIAG BRSNS RIEEER MERE  thobh -
ASAH#ERREBREERENE S RAMEEKKIE]E
HEEBIRERENGE -

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate
ECL for the trade and unbilled receivables which are
individually insignificant. The ECL rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The collective
assessment is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs or effort. In addition,
trade and unbilled receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

Annual Report 2023/2024

BAHME S RARRARERFIRREN EOETF B
Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of trade and unbilled receivables
included:

. BREBRESRARZERIFBEEEBBEENR
2

° Obtaining an understanding of the process
relating to the allowance for credit losses of
trade and unbilled receivables;

. THEEABEEAANEZHEBERRENSE
14 2B R R E R LR R AR A
EEBEREARELNFTELEREER

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the key
judgments and assumptions determine the
internal credit ratings, relating to calculation
of historical default rates and forward-looking
factor made in the ECL model,
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FAEEFLEIE (F)

BRELER

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMNBRNAEEBRERSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

IR A MG MR EAPTIE - W2024F3A31H - B o FHEEREEBRRLTAABERN TR £

SRAMBRYFIEEEL A ARE159,074,0007T MERABRAME RiIgE A E R E MR - R

MR EERBREHELN A AR 14,803,0007T ° . Evaluating the completeness, accuracy and
As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial relevance of data used in the ECL model
statements, as at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount and checking the arithmetic accuracy of the
of trade and unbilled receivables was approximately calculations; and

RMB159,074,000, net of allowance for credit losses of

approximately RMB14,803,000.

HttE
BERREEAYEMERRER S - LA
BERRERNEL  BTREGANBRE
BB EBEDRE -

BPEEEVBRREFLNER L BEREEM
AR MBEMIEHEMEMEREFATAD
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. BRIEARERLENENE S L ARRRRKFIA
BRI HE - WEBMEEFTRHERIMNERNR
BB L -

° Obtaining the aging reports of trade and
unbilled receivables used to calculate the
historical default rates and testing the accuracy
by checking the aging of selected invoices or
delivery documents on a sample basis.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.



Hitn & ¥ (4)
REMBLGSMBRRMS - RMANEES
MEEmAN #TEEEnENRTRES
BBRERRMEBRBRTRBNENGFE
BATRH « AUTFEEABBRRIL - HER
FERDETHIERAEMENNREAR
B BMAREEREE - Rk - ROF
BIFH R -

EEREEELAEEENGRSHE
|k B

BERREBERARBRBEE B ASHEMD
BAMBGHRELABEFBRAGRIINBEERE
WEEEMAFHRRIEANGS A HRE
rEFETHRHEGAVERERBULENER
NEEE  UEZEREMBBRRTEFEH
RERFF RS R M G B EA S SRR AL ©

ERBGEMBHRERE EFRAANHES
BRELENEN  IREESELCEEHEN
FHE(MER) - KRIEEHRCEEEERY
BB - BRI 2 NI B A B R AT 1T A3
% BAARBUREEERERNEE -

%) £ B 75

ofF ¢
i 4
o am
° m
R
)
puiy
[EE
o
m
i

i
g
\u]]H
i

BY ZBEHR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain  sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Li Fung Tun.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COIVIPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE2024F3A31HILEFHE
For the year ended 31 March 2024

HZEIASIHIEFE
Year ended 31 March

20245 20234
2024 2023
M e ARKETTT ARKETTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
e Revenue 5 3,770,543 4,722,749
HER A Cost of goods sold (3,234,039) (3,955,216)
EF Gross profit 536,504 767,533
H A A Other income 6 9,218 6,847
H itz K 518 Other gains and losses 7 5,593 (16,908)
VEREY =L dEIE= Reversal of impairment losses, net 34 2,600 1,655
DIERHEERX Distribution and selling expenses (30,105) (61,716)
—RRRITHRX General and administrative expenses (93,398) (105,689)
R Research and development expenses (30,932) (31,037)
LR Listing expenses (40,287) (20,887)
ElEEEREEEA Share of result of a joint venture 18 (5,992) 11,267
B TS R AN Finance costs 8 (19,597) (17,651)
Fr A5 B Vg A Profit before tax 333,604 533,414
RSBl Income tax expense 9 (57,410) (111,900)
F A Profit for the year 10 276,194 421,514
Hit2mAX Other comprehensive expense
HE ] B 7R R Item that may be reclassified
EH - subsequently to profit or l0ss:
—BRE—IEEINEELEZ  — Exchange difference arising on
M 5 =5 translation of a foreign operation (4,589) (10,097)
FREEW=BEE Total comprehensive income for the year 271,605 411,417
AT ATRBEFRET : Profit for the year attributable to:
. WNCIEZZS PN — Owners of the Company 252,479 405,089
— IR R - Non-controlling interests 23,715 16,425
276,194 421,514
ATALTEEERNZERZE  Total comprehensive income for the year
HREE attributable to:
S VNGIEZ 2PN — Owners of the Company 247,890 394,992
— FEERE R — Non-controlling interests 23,715 16,425
271,605 411,417
AR Earnings per share 13
—EXR(AR%TT) — Basic (RMB) 0.37 0.60
—#8 (AR¥T) — Diluted (RMB) 0.37 TEA N/A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20243 A31H
As at 31 March 2024

M3 A31H
As at 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
{hE=a AREET T AREF T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
FREEE Non-current assets
] Plant and equipment 14 455,092 486,442
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 144,004 153,077
TR FIERES Prepayments and deposits 21 9,851 4,378
BES Goodwill 16 12,069 12,069
mEEE Intangible asset 17 3,962 5,547
R—EEEREZER Interest in a joint venture 18 116,307 122,299
FIEFHTBEE Deferred tax assets 19 3,699 4,451
744,984 788,263
REBEE Current assets
A= Inventories 20 449,326 151,589
B 5 K H Ath FE Y GRIE A & Trade and other receivables and
T F08 prepayments 21 2,428,151 1,730,694
JERA & ¥R Amounts due from joint ventures 22 18,520 27,490
JEW —Z IR R FTA Amount due from a shareholder 22 = 3,535
Al Y B FIE Tax recoverable = 1,029
ZRHRE Restricted cash 23 152,205 170,484
RITEHBRNIRS Bank balances and cash 23 812,343 365,731
3,860,545 2,450,552
FEBaE Current liabilities
B 5 R HE AR IR Trade and other payables 24 519,515 630,630
aRAE Contract liabilities 25 745,120 335,978
JE SRR A R 50R Amount due to a related company 22 - 175,716
REBEB AR ZEE Loan from a related company 22 - 105,817
MIEEE Tax liabilities 171,881 155,813
fBx Borrowings 26 380,736 164,738
HEBE Lease liabilities 27 4,841 5,681
1,822,093 1,574,373
RBEERE Net current assets 2,038,452 876,179
BEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,783,436 1,664,442
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
B sE AR®ET T ARKETTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
BEXR#E Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 28 63,861 66
i Reserves 2,384,415 1,420,746
Equity attributable to owners of the

AARHER AEMLERS Company 2,448,276 1,420,812
FEIE IR b 2 Non-controlling interests 167,416 155,081
e ERE Total equity 2,615,692 1,575,893

FRBEE Non-current liabilities
BEERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 19 2,783 3,173
RN Borrowings 26 164,427 80,000
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 534 5,376
167,744 88,549
2,783,436 1,664,442

HNE7IE193B 2 FA W B HmKRE R 2024F The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 193
6A21REEESHERIRETIZE - WAUTE were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

EREREE directors on 21 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:
21807 B
LIU GUOCAI DONG BENZI
B=x =
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE2024F3A31BIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2024

ARTEEARLE
Attributable to owners of the Company
Bhx  RYEE  tERE  ARREG  HbBE  REEW 2 FEREs Eh
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  Premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests Total
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000  RMBOO  RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Fizta) (BzED)
(note a) (note b)
R202F4518 At 1 April 2022 66 - 128,766 7,160 (1,165,933) 2,057,226 1,027,285 147633 1,174918
R Profit for the year = = = = - 405089 405089 16,425 421514
Other comprehensive expense for
EREMRARR the year - - - (10,007) - - (10,007) - (10,07)
Total comprehensive (expense)
En2E () haasE income for the year o = - (10,007) - 405080 394992 16425 411417
EREERE Transfer to statutory reserve - - 13280 - - (13280) - - -
REA—2REFLDAE  Deemed distribution to a
(H3tc) shareholder (note c) = - - - (1,465) - (1.465) - (1,469)
Dividend paid to non-controlling
X FHERERERE inferests - - - - - - - B9 (8977
R202353A31H At 31 March 2023 66 - 142046 (2937) (1,167,398) 2449035 1420812 155,081 1,575,893
&R Profitfor the year - - - - - /2479 /24719 BTI5 276194
Other comprehensive expense for
EREHRARR the year - - - (4589) - - (4589 - (4589)
Total comprehensive (expense)
En2E () haasE income for the year o = = (4,589) - 252479 AT80 2875 271605
EREERE Transfer to statutory reserve - - 5818 - - (5818) - - -
Dividend paid to non-controlling
TATEERERNRE interests = = = = = = - (11,380)  (11,380)
Capitalisation issue (as detailed in
BB (ERHE()  Note 28 i) 47832 (47832 - - - - - - -
RERDHEE (FHRAHE  Issue of new shares upon the
E ) BTk initial public offerings (the ‘IPQ")
(R HEo8(v)) (as detailed in Note 28 (iv)) 15983 816755 = = = - 832718 - 832718
Transaction costs attributable to
BONREERARE issue of new shares - (53,144) - = = - (B3144) - (53,144)
#2024%3A318 At 31 March 2024 63861  TIBTT9 147864 (7506) (1167398) 2695696 2448276 167,416 2,615,692
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

WMBERMEREARKNE ([HE]) KN
RHPERERRE - ARENTEME AT
R EERRERS - METRMNBARE
REEETE M BRI RREGBR AT P =D
BHE10%ZAMFHE  MEMSERERH
HEZEEFRE - WETAKRFBEOEHRD
ER AT ENE AR EMEARNS0% Bl
AEIEREAERSEHE  RERBREHEN B
RERBEFEEE (WE) L RBEARL
BT AANBIRAENR -

MR2022F4 A1 AMEMEEEZE()BECK
BEEERARAR ([ARQF)]) ERAAEZ
B seE (TRI1%4E]) riEdl Mg AR %8
FEMEEGERRLEELHODIR - (ii)5
AEEBEHEENORE2EMB AR (ANE
FASLELIERQR ([EEXT])  BAF
{EZ(EB)BERAR (AIEREEI(LE)
BRAR) ([ EEXS]) - BEXF (EBX) Bit
EREERAR) (FifEXm (%) 5wEMR
EERAR RKE GBR) RIEEEBRAF)
(T8sXs ) REXNE (K2)EEREAR
AR (AIfEXSEI (RX2) BRARRERFE
{EZ(XZE)BRAR) ([KEXRT]) 5
ABIHESEE]) M2 IR T AMEERE
BT ([BAMIEER]  BAE2BHEeN
B AR EEREMEERERRLEEEDL
B IR - (i) E 28 % WAL 20203 A 31 BHHY
FEM BRI A FTiEHI B A RFRAOAR
773,715,000 7T M AR fE 1R B 50 A VEH B 59 Tk J
(VEBEEHETESKSEEZEGRAR (&
BREDHBKEREBEAKEBEHREB RS
R A 2 =58 o

R2022% 4 A26H - AEBUAREA THR
EREEXsRBAESERERBR(RI) AR
AR (TRIIKE ) B100%AHE R KSR
WA EREEFEIMNEEARA
M EE36 FTEAR fEM RIS A EH A DK ©

Notes:
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As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises established in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC"), the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation
to such reserve is made out of at least 10% of profit after
taxation as reflected in the statutory financial statements
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and
appropriation are decided by their board of directors
annually. The appropriation to statutory surplus reserve
may cease if the balance of the statutory surplus reserve
has reached 50% of the relevant PRC subsidiaries’
registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves can
be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can
be applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issue.

Other reserve as at 1 April 2022 mainly represented
(i) deemed distribution to Mr. Liu Guocai (“Mr. Liu"),
the controlling shareholder of Migao Group Holdings
Limited (“the Company”), arising from interest-free
amounts due from related companies controlled by Mr.
Liu, (ii) deemed distribution to Mr. Liu arising from re-
determination of consideration in relation to the Group’s
previous disposal of its entire equity interest in four wholly-
owned subsidiaries, namely Liaoning Migao Chemical
Co., Ltd. (“Liaoning Migao”), Huantaiyang Chemical
Industry (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Migao
Chemical Industry (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) (“Shanghai
Migao”), Huantaiyang (Zunyi) Real Estate Leasing Co.,
Ltd. (formerly known as Migao (Zunyi) Real Estate Leasing
Co., Ltd. and Migao (Zunyi) Technology Fertiliser Co.,
Ltd.) (“Zunyi Migao”) and Huantaiyang (Tianjin) Property
Leasing Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Migao Chemical
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd. and Huantaiyang Chemical (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd.) (“Tianjin Migao”) (collectively as the “Disposal
Group”) to Asia Pacific Potash Holdings Limited (“APPH"),
a related company wholly-owned by Mr. Liu, (iii) deemed
distribution to Mr. Liu arising from the waiver of net amount
of approximately RMB773,715,000 due from related
companies controlled by Mr. Liu as at 31 March 2020 and
(iv) difference between the acquisition considerations of
H.K. Migao Industry Limited (“H.K. Migao”) under group
reorganisation and the paid-up capital of H.K. Migao at
the date of acquisition.

On 26 April 2022, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Migao Agricultural Technology (Tongjiang)
Co. Ltd. (“Tongjiang Migao”) from Liaoning Migao at
a consideration of RMB1. The difference between the
consideration and the net liabilities of Tongjiang Migao
at the date of acquisition was accounted for as deemed
distribution to Mr. Liu as set out in Note 36.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2024F3A318ILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HZEIASIHIEE
Year ended 31 March

2024 2023%F
2024 2023
ARBTTT AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R EE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R F AT g A Profit before tax 333,604 533,414
HATSIEELFE Adjustments for:
WEREBETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 7,409 8,425
B EERE Amortisation of intangible asset 1,585 1,585
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,073 7,744
ElEEEREREA Share of result of a joint venture 5,992 (11,267)
VERIEY, =L IR ] Reversal of impairment losses, net (2,600) (1,655)
IR IDFN Finance costs 19,597 17,651
FBEUWA Interest income (4,473) (3,539)
(Gain) loss on disposal of plant and
HEmE KR () BiE equipment (170) 12
Operating cash flows before movements in
EELESEHILERSRE working capital 370,017 552,370
B 5 N Hoh e W sk IE LA R TR A Increase in trade and other receivables
FRIAIE AN and prepayments (763,846) (154,662)
HFE (Em) R (Increase) decrease in inventories (260,502) 625,271
B 5 I H At FE A RIE R Decrease in trade and other payables (41,762) (504,437)
SREEEMORL) Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 295,514 (275,995)
Decrease in amounts due to related
JE 1~ BB B 1 ) SR IE R companies - (421)
JEfT 6 & B EKIER D Decrease in amounts due to joint ventures - (33,061)
Decrease in amounts due from a joint
B —RE & ERIBRD venture 396 929
Decrease in amount due to a non-controlling
JE —IEFEIE I SR IE R interest = (6,168)
K (A Fisie Cash (used in) generated from operations (400,183) 203,826
AR ATIS Income taxes paid (39,951) (69,771)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING
SRES () FTSREFH  ACTIVITIES (440,134) 134,055
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZEIASIHIEFE
Year ended 31 March

2024 20234
2024 2023
ARKETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
FRERGIRE Placement of restricted cash (509,565) (436,395)
Payment of deposits in relation to sales and
BALERBARZHE 2 IZE MR leaseback arrangement (8,000) =
M — AR R B Advance to a shareholder - (2,097)
KE—BREAER Repayment from a shareholder 274 400
B2k NS EEES Advance to a related company (4,760) =
BERE LZE Purchase of plant and equipment (10,681) (46,788)
FRAEEE 2B HKIA Upfront payments for right-of-use assets - (83,330)
REZRBRHIRE Withdrawal of restricted cash 527,844 456,209
KE—REB AR ZHE &S  Return of prepayment of plant and machinery
2 TERSRIEE R from a related company - 13,206
B U FI B M A Interest income received 4,473 3,539
& & RERR Advances to a joint venture - (24,449)
KEGEREIZER Repayments from a joint venture 8,574 26,447
G =T Advance to a third party = (20,450)
REE=FZER Repayment from a third party - 20,450
BB AR ZHERAFE Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary
(K15£36) (Note 36) - 1,702
Proceeds from disposal of plant and
HERE & RETSRIE equipment 412 286
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING
WEEBME (FTA)BLFE ACTIVITIES 8,571 (91,270)
MEED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BERERK Repayments of borrowings (264,178) (233,946)
BEATFILE Interest paid (19,167) (16,834)
HEBEER Repayments of lease liabilities (5,682) (5,768)
XA T IR i AR AR B Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (11,380) (8,977)
M EAEE A RIEN Repayments to related companies (204,019) (240,449)
KE—REB AR ZIEEER Repayment of loan from a related company (105,000) (95,020)
BTN TS 5RIE Proceeds from issue of shares 832,718 =
BEMER New borrowings raised 545,023 298,660
REMB AT 2R Advances from a related company 18,524 243,071
RE—RAB AR ZHEER New loan from a related company 120,750 105,000
BRI RGO EITRA Share issue cost paid (33,823) (8,189)
REEE SRS FE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 873,766 37,548
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEIA3IBILEE
Year ended 31 March

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET T AR®ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
ReRRSFEBYILINFHE EQUIVALENTS 442,203 80,333
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
FYRESRFRCEEYD BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 365,731 283,456
INETE R E ) 2 B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,409 1,942
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
FREBEeRBFSED OF THE YEAR,
BRI R ® represented by bank balances and cash 812,343 365,731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 21 November 2017 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its immediate
holding company is Migao Holdings Limited (“Migao
Holdings”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”") on 17 November 2017.
Its ultimate holding company is Migao International
Holding Limited (“Migao Barbados”), a company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI with limited
liability on 19 August 2005 and was discontinued as
a company under the laws of the BVI and continuing
as a company under the laws of Barbados on 25
January 2010. The controlling shareholder of the
Company is Mr. Liu. The shares of the Company
had been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 21 March 2024 (the “Listing”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are set out in the
corporate information section of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of specialty potash-
based fertilizers in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has consistently applied HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), including those new
and amendments to HKFRSs which are effective
for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2023,
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its

HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback?
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?
Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability®
HKAS 21

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be based
on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that the classification
should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the requirements
introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the
disclosure requirements about information that
enables users of financial statements to understand
the risk that the liabilities could become repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period,
if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right
to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve
months after the reporting period.



e B WK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective
date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period
after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s right to defer
settlement  for borrowings of approximately
RMB89,900,000 are subject to compliance with
certain financial ratios only after the reporting
period. Such borrowings were classified as non-
current as the Group met such ratios at 31
March 2024. Upon the application of the 2022
Amendments, such borrowings will still be classified
as non-current as the covenants which the Group
is required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting date.

Except as described above, the application of the
2020 and 2022 Amendments will not affect the
classification of the Group’s other liabilities as at 31
March 2024.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

R

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (the
“CO”").

The directors of the Company have, at the
time of approving the consolidated financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Y

BRERNEEREE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

E5 (8]) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

REMBREBIEARRBIARK The consolidated financial statements

RAREWBARIZH cEE Y incorporate the financial statements of the

B HRE - WBATER - AIE Company and entities controlled by the

NEVES R Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o AR BEEHRITEES - o has power over the investee;

. E2HEEHR 2 EXBM . is exposed, or has rights, to variable
AESNBRERSAEE returns from its involvement with the
Wk investee; and

o BRENBETEEE DM . has the ability to use its power to
BZFRIR - affect its returns.

WESEENIERB R Ll =A% The Group reassesses whether or not

HEEG - A-HEIALHRE
g AREEEFIGHHEIESE
HIREHR -

ARER B 1S I B X B Il A
KB AR A AR XNKE
Y B8 2 R IR RS A% LEARR ©

it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements
of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

R

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with
the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SABISRAM S \‘t
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

When the Group acquires a group of
assets and liabilities that do not constitute

a business, the Group identifies
recognises the individual

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established at
the date of acquisition of the business less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than

an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an

indication that the unit may be impaired.
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identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to financial
assets/financial liabilities at the respective
fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give
rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of
the joint venture are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of the joint venture used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in a joint venture
is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’'s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the joint
venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not account for
unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group.

N .
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SABIER AN \‘t
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount.

When a group entity transacts with a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interest in the joint venture that are
not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good
or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue

TREEBROEENERBRM

B s e i 3R

is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
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following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of
the distinct good or service.

A receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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REHNEBEEREE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 Leases at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at
the commencement date of the lease (i.e.
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability; and

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion
and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group applies the requirements of
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to assess whether sale and
leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the
requirements as a sale, the Group as a seller-
lessee continues to recognise the assets
and accounts for the transfer proceeds as
borrowings within the scope of HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the functional
and presentation currency of the Company
(i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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REHNEBEEREE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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All borrowing costs not directly attributable
to acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans including state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All  short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRSs requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing
to employees (such as wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Income tax expense represents the sum of
current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint
venture, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of the reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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e MBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss.

Plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Construction in progress for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by
management. Such construction in progress
are classified to the appropriate categories
of plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of assets other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Expenditure on research activities s
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU
when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU
or group of CGUs.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables and trade related balances
with related parties arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from joint ventures,
amount due from a shareholder, restricted
cash and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at the reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables and trade related balances
with related parties.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

(continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing

whether credit risk has increased
significantly:
o an actual or expected

significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’'s external
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant  deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’'s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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R

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

o an actual or expected
significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective  of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the
following events:

(a)

(b)

significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.

\" ‘
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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EMEBRRGEEEREE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
SETHEER (&) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

SRMEERRE (&) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) TEHREEEBZEERER (v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
EHEEBREZIERE The measurement of ECL is a function
R - BLEE (BNED of the probability of default, loss
R BB AN R LR R given default (i.e. the magnitude of
WA Z HE - BRI ER the loss if there is a default) and the
EHABBEZABIDERE exposure at default. The assessment
RIREMEREITHENE of the probability of default and loss
FEBED - BHEES given default is based on historical
B2 EET R 1R B R data adjusted by forward-looking
EMEz2E  UNEBE information. Estimation of ECL reflects
FEAR R AREERETE - an unbiased and probability-weighted

amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as

the weights.
—RmE  EEEEEE Generally, the ECL is the difference
RIBBEERENAEEZ between all contractual cash flows that
FrEaRREEMEHERE are due to the Group in accordance
EFEBAUBEESREY with the contract and the cash flows
B Z5E GRUIAFERRE that the Group expects to receive,
BB o discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.
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MRRREREEREE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
BERER (&) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
ERMEERNRE (&) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

BEHEEREZAERER
(&)

HMEREEEEZERR
EXEIADAAEINFE
BRI TABEMERNGE
R RAERMIARATE

. TRIAME

. AR

. BBEANEE - R
BRITE R

o« NEBEERE (i
5)-

TEESEHMRAOAERB
W DARER & AR B 2 A
BEZREBUEERRR
o

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective
basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on
the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of

debtors; and

o External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Annual Report 2023/2024 ¥ MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 117



LNy mossmsmn O
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case

SREEZEERAE - interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
AEEFZBPHEFAESH The Group recognises an impairment
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gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial
asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss.



DRREBSERS

B REm TRAIREMET AL
RZH AT R mﬁlﬁ%éﬁ%ﬁﬁ
I,E\Zm%“*ﬁ?%éwﬂﬁfa‘ﬂ%

.EIIL

BT HE

BaTARAEARE R
HirE ARG ?QZQEE%%E%

EAAR SEBERET I ER
TAREWRBGRENRERET

THMAE

FrETcRBEERRAERMN X
RITEERARGTE ©

BRESMEMEMNTIEA - BN
ARt N EISE - REBBARZ
fEEREFNEHMABERER
BEIRM R ILEH AT E -

3.

A MR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group
entities are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All - financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost wusing the
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amount due to a related company,
loan from a related company and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised
costs, using the effective interest method.
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EMEBRRGEEEREE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
SETHEER (&) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

BIEERemBE Derecognition of financial liabilities

REBRBERTEBNETE The Group derecognises financial liabilities
kR - BUBSE MR IERR S when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
MEE - ERILBEANESRER are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
REERD N REMREZFED The difference between the carrying amount
ZHENERPER - of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

4., HETRERZFNETERIR 4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

$ﬂﬁ%$?§ﬁﬁ$%@ﬂ’] = oF BOR In the application of the Group's accounting

AR R BB A RRG A B policies, the directors of the Company is required
E&’EEE’JHEETET’Eﬁ#UIﬁﬁ EEr R/ to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

c BREAMET MAEBEBRRIBREAT LR about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ BHEMEREL - B4 that are not readily apparent from other sources.

BB RN ZEEET © The estimates and associated assumptions are

based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

75?WE.#&*BF'*W““Hﬁ&ﬁf&E o fis] The estimates and underlying assumptions are
B AFT I ERXBER BT reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
M B R ZHABER o WISE] R accounting estimates are recognised in the period
FERHRARRER - AIREFTERE R in which the estimate is revised if the revision
RAREAE R © affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate
ECL for the trade and unbilled receivables which
are individually insignificant. The ECL rates are
based on internal credit ratings as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
The collective assessment is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable and available without undue costs
or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, trade and unbilled receivables with
significant balances and credit impaired are
assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the Group'’s trade
and unbilled receivables and the ECL are disclosed
in Notes 21 and 34, respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of
trade and unbilled receivables are approximately
RMB159,074,000 (2023: RMB182,967,000), net
of allowance for credit losses of approximately
RMB14,803,000 (2023: RMB17,403,000).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group primarily recognises revenue from
sales of specialty potash-based fertilizers in the
PRC and recognises at a point of time. The Group
purchases Potassium Chloride (“KCL") from both
overseas and domestic suppliers. The Group then
processes majority of the purchased KCL for sales
to its customers or use as raw materials for its
manufacturing activities. After that, part of the KCL
are sold directly to customers and most of them are
arranged for pick up from the ports or the railway
stations; and part of the KCL are transported to
the Group’s processing facilities for processing
into granular form in size as specifically required
by customers. Besides, part of the KCL, together
with other raw materials, are used to manufacture
into Potassium Sulphate (“SOP”) and compound
fertilizers for sales to customers. In addition,
the Group also sources and resells KCL,SOP,
Potassium Nitrate (“NOP”) and compound fertilizers
to customers without further manufacturing or
processing.

The Group also provides production services to its
customers for processing the principal raw materials
provided by customers into compound fertilizers
in accordance with their product specifications.
Revenue from provision of production services is
recognised over time.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

e MBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE3A3IHILFE
Year ended 31 March

20245 20234
2024 2023
ARBET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEEMD Sales of products
2L f KCL 3,166,130 4,024,088
B Bk 5 SOP 438,190 476,058
B 4 57 NOP 2,348 15,366
BEE Compound fertilizers 53,446 47,747
Hi Others 86,444 129,449
3,746,558 4,692,708
TR E RIS Provision of production services 23,985 30,041
@t Total 3,770,543 4,722,749
HZESASIHILEE

Year ended 31 March
20245 20234
2024 2023
AREET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R E R B RER At a point in time 3,746,558 4,692,708
B8 B P R 2R Over-time 23,985 30,041
5T Total 3,770,543 4,722,749
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. WARZHER (&)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

HZE3A3IHILEFE
Year ended 31 March

2024 5 20234

2024 2023

AREET T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

A ([EEEE]) State-owned enterprise (“SOE”) 2,017,636 2,660,983
B EEE Non-SOE 1,752,907 2,061,766
@t Total 3,770,543 4,722,749
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The Group sells specialty potash-based
fertilizers directly to its customers. Revenue
is recognised at a point in time when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been collected by customers or
delivered from the Group’s warehouses.

The Group provides production services to
customers. Such services are recognised as
a performance obligation satisfied over time
as the Group creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised
for these production services based on the
stage of completion of the contract using
output method.

The normal credit term is 0 to 180 days upon
delivery.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

All contracts with customers are for period of
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Information reported to the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM”"),
for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment, is the consolidated
results of the Group as a whole. No other
discrete financial information is provided.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider there is only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS
8 Operating Segments. In this regard, only
entity-wide disclosures are presented.

No geographic information is presented
as the revenue, non-current assets and
operations of the Group are primarily derived
from its activities located in the PRC.
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5. WARZHER (&)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from customers of the
corresponding years contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

HZE3A3IHILEFE
Year ended 31 March

20244 20234

2024 2023

AREET T AREET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EFPA Customer A 478,301 945,404

ZFB Customer B 446,328 AT N/AT

ZFEC Customer C TERA' N/A! 646,657
L RABBEEE - HEWRAIL ARG 1 The corresponding revenue did not
REBBUAR10% A £ - contribute over 10% of total revenue of the

Group for the relevant year.
6. HA OTHER INCOME

HE3ASIBILFE
Year ended 31 March

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRITHEHA Bank interest income 4,473 3,539
S Bh (AaE) Government grants (Note) 3,292 2,007
AL BA Rental income 844 1,127
Hith Others 609 174
9,218 6,847

Wi - ZeErEEhBETEREETE Note: The amounts mainly represented the incentive

RAEBMITHMER MR - ZF
8 B) I P ARG AR R I A R SR E R

Yo B B FE 3R A R B
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subsidies provided by the PRC government to
encourage business operation in the PRC. There
were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these
grants and the Group has recognised the grants

upon receipts.

N .
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

HZEIASIHILEFE
Year ended 31 March

2024%F 2023%F
2024 2023
ARKETTT ARKETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Gain (loss) on disposal of plant and
HERE k& HkE (EE) equipment 170 (12)
SNE W 2= (E518) /558 Net foreign exchange gains (losses) 6,032 (16,357)
Bt A& R Epth (A7) Surcharges and others (Note) — (88)
HAth Others (609) (451)
5,593 (16,908)

Hret : ZESRBTERD M INE K H A

B -
B 5 R AR

Note: The amounts represent the provision for surcharges

and others on late tax filings.

FINANCE COSTS

HZESASIHILFE
Year ended 31 March

20245 2023%F

2024 2023

ARKETTT ARKETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BRZFERAX Interest expenses on borrowings 14,262 11,203
AR ER 2R B Interest expenses on loan from a related

(Ktet22(b)) company (Note 22 (b)) 4,865 5,825

HEABZFERX Interest expenses on lease liabilities 470 623

19,597 17,651

Annual Report 2023/2024 % MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 127

¢



&

e MBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.

Fri8 BB 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
HEIASIBILEFE
Year ended 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET T AR¥ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e B Income tax expense comprised of:
BEATRIA : Current tax:
R ERER
(TEEAEH] PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") 57,048 111,785
RIETIIE (a1 19) Deferred tax (Note 19) 362 115
57,410 111,900

BRI EERERESR  AEEBAR
BIER 2B BHGH -

F 7 R 1 67 /2 15 4 e SR B M B B &
BMEN MR MEFELEFELEE
ST o

TEREXABREAREREE AT
BERBREERIFRITES - RERIED

N
=T =
5 o

REFBECEMESHAMNEFEERA
8 - BEMRFHER25% ° thoh -
BRARANERMRMEEER (RED
BEXMETE)  AINBARERESR
15%HIEHERR - MABEREAES
ZFBEH R - RRMEFE  hEME
TEEEBAEZTAI5%NABHER
Vo

128 XSEEZERER AT Y T 2023/2024

The Group is not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands pursuant to the rules and
regulations in the jurisdiction.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax as there is
no assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits
Tax for both years.

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates of tax
prevailing in the areas in which the Group operates,
based on the existing legislation, interpretations
and practices.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT law and its detailed
implementation rules, the standard income tax rate
is 25%. Besides, if the subsidiaries are qualified
as high-technology companies (under the PRC
EIT law), the subsidiaries are entitled to a reduced
income tax rate of 15% and such qualification is
subject to renewal every three years. Certain of
group entities in the PRC are entitled to the reduced
income tax rate of 15% for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FRiGHRA ()

BIBECEMSHERCEMBRIEER
A HINRIEEERPBKZA QR B
2008 FRBME AR - HARERKRE B
WM 10% B TBINFTER - ZERETE
MBS R A] g 2 AR 15 i B A9 FR UL i5 78
RTPE— TR HESREEFA
FFEMERER - REBE(RH BB
THREBREMSE2ESHRFFG L
RN ZE)  WEBSERLE 81
BARRR  FEREERGEZED25%
B BZFEERCERNESERD
X R EMTEMMERHE B E—
FTHEES%  GRIBBEREGERT
10% ° FAFNZN 58 (B Bt 128 I 8% [0 B O 1k 22
EAEEERATERERA T2 ER
ERERUEEE  WHBERRAVBR
R EME A RNR2024F3/831HE
SRR 4 AR B2, 413,047,0007T (2023
£ AR#¥2110,183,0007T) FBIEHE
e M = REVE L IR T TR TH B A -

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(CONTINUED)

According to the EIT Law and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, withholding income tax
at a rate of 10% would be imposed on dividends
relating to profits earned in year 2008 onwards to
foreign investors distributed from the companies
established in the PRC. Such dividend withholding
income tax rate may be further reduced under
applicable tax treaties or arrangement subject to
specific qualification requirements at the time of
the distribution. According to the arrangement
between the Mainland China and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance
of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal
Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income, the
withholding income tax rate on dividends paid by
a PRC resident enterprise to a Hong Kong resident
enterprise is further reduced to 5% if the Hong
Kong resident enterprise, including but not limited
to, holds at least 25% equity interests in the PRC
resident enterprise, and remains at 10% otherwise.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB2,413,047,000 as at 31 March
2024 (2023: RMB2,110,183,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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9. MEBiRAX ()

RAFENMEMAX AT ZESEER
Hi 2 E R AR ADE NSRRI T

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(CONTINUED)

The income tax expense for the year can be
reconciled to the profit before tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

HE3AZIBHLFE
Year ended 31 March

20244 20235
2024 2023
ARBETTT AR¥ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 25 Al g Profit before tax 333,604 533,414
RRBECEMEHEE25%
FTEZIRE Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 83,401 133,354
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
AR L 2 G & tax purpose 10,289 13,581
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
BAERBA 2 B 572 purpose (18) =
RS MR 2 i Tax effect of super deduction for research
& (Hit) and development expenses (Note) (3,709) (3,768)
Tax effect of share of results of a joint
JEREEEFEIMFTE  venture 1,498 (2,817)
REFHREBARNERFE Effect of tax concessionary rates granted
0)-7 - to the PRC subsidiaries (34,107) (28,291)
Hith Others 56 (159)
57,410 111,900
Hiat : BB XIERTREEY BB Note: The eligible expenditures represent research

BREVTE R R EHE IR AT
BB R S A I 100% BB
Ao

130 XKSEEZERER AT ¥ Tk 2023/2024

and development costs incurred in the PRC and
charged to profit or loss, which is subject to an
additional 100% tax deduction in the calculation of
income tax expense for both years.
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F Wz Al 10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

HESASIHLEFE
Year ended 31 March

2024%F 2023%F
2024 2023
ARKETTT ARKETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREMEINB T 5 &IEE  Profit for the year has been arrived at after
EW charging
Cost of inventories recognised as an
BRARAS ZTFERA expense 3,219,438 3,935,097
mIVEEEH Amortisation of intangible asset 1,585 1,585
WE MEETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 44,644 44,815
FAEEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,073 7,744
mEREHAE Total depreciation and amortisation 55,302 54,144
B BRMERTFERAR Less: capitalised as cost of inventories (37,235) (36,390)
18,067 17,754
ZEEE & Auditor’'s remuneration
— BZR — Audit services 2,701 288
— FEZIRE — Non-audit services 574 =
3,275 288
iailiab-3 Listing expenses 40,287 20,887
Staff costs (including directors’
BETIRA (BRESHS) emoluments)
—EEWME (HiE12) — Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) 6,117 5,137
— Fre MEMER — Salaries and other benefits 56,538 52,485
— RINEFEF S (RB3E - Retirement benefit scheme contributions
£F) (excluding directors) 3,666 4,038
66,321 61,660
W BRNMEARTFERA Less: capitalised as cost of inventories (25,363) (24,254)
40,958 37,406
B 11. DIVIDENDS
BE2024%3A31H JJZEE*WIEEU% No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
RN E BRSO S AR shareholders of the Company during the year ended
(20234 : &) - 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).
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11. BRE (&)

RBEPRE  ARREETEZERES
2024F 3 A31H I FE K% R E
FHREBIEARY0.0617T (20234 -
/) BEBEHABARKES5,445,0007T
(2023 : &) WEAREEREAS L
BEBRRALE -

/,

12. ]
¥

il

ol

EY
A

X
X

ot o

A B2 B & B
MiES

i

4

RIBER LW HRA R 2 BRGIEEN AR
FREZRRSTRABZHMEMT :

11.

12.

DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
March 2024 of RMBO0.061 (2023: nil) per ordinary
share, in an aggregate amount of approximately
RMB55,445,000 (2023: nil), has been proposed
by the directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration
for the vyear, disclosed pursuant to the
applicable Listing Rules and the CO, is as

follows:
HER  BHEA E30)
we  HiEE  HEfR BETd act
Retirement
Salaries benefit Performance
and other scheme related
Fee allowances contributions bonuses Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Hiatii)
(Note iii)
HZ2202453A31H
tEE Year ended 31 March 2024
HOTESE Executive directors:
B (Biti) Mr. Liu (Note /) - 5,278 82 - 5,360
REREsE Mr. Sun Pingfu - 387 83 - 470
BAREELE Mr. Dong Benzi - 223 34 - 257
Independent non-executive
BUERITES directors:
REIR L4 (Mf227)  Mr. Chen Guofu (Note i) 10 - - - 10
|t (W) Ms. Huang Shasha (Note /i) 10 - - - 10
Qing MeyersonZ £
(Hiei) Ms. Qing Meyerson (Note i) 10 - - - 10
B Total 30 5,888 199 - 6,117

132 KEEEERARAT VY £/ 2023/2024
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12. EERBS{THRAEZ#M&LL  12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
REEEeHMES (&) EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)
FeR  BRAEA E30)
#we  HitER  sEEE HEERTEAL @t
Retirement
Salaries benefit Performance
and other scheme related
Fee allowances contributions bonuses Total
ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETT AR®ETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Hiitii)
(Note i)
BZE2023F3A31H
LEE Year ended 31 March 2023
WIEE: Executive directors:
BI% 4 (Hr7ti) Mr. Liu (Note ) = 4,493 78 = 4,571
BERELE Mr. Sun Pingfu = 342 80 = 422
EARAE Mr. Dong Benzi = 111 33 = 144
a5t Total - 4,946 191 - 5,137
izt - Notes:

)

(i)

(iif)

FEERMIEFEEERAT
RETHAS - MER EXE
BB eEEEERSTR
ABREEEEERERMIE
HRBHME -

BREREE  BEBFISLLTR
Qing MeyersonZ +#2024
F2R28 ABEERERNAE
SEHITESE C BARRF LT
1B

REBBEEANIRBEAREED
=B RAKEARBEANRE
REE °

(i)

(iii)

Mr. Liu served as the chief executive
of the Company for both years and his
emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief
executive in management of the affairs of
the group entities.

Mr. Chen Guofu, Ms. Huang Shasha and
Ms. Qing Meyerson were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 28 February 2024 with their
appointments becoming effective upon the
Listing of the Company.

related bonuses are
based on the Group’s
performance and performance of the
relevant individual within the Group.

Performance
determined
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134 ks

EXHTRBTES ZME AR
HAEEARR R ANEEEHM
REZRS - LB IIERTE
ENEHEERETARRES
RERBESOBE -

RMEEFE - SEEAESKR
SITRAB BRI RERRER
BEMME 2 -

FRAAEBMAEEESFMAER
FEME (2023F - A ) 8% H
P& RIS EN EXHES - Hip

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of
the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a
director or the chief executive waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during
both years.

The five highest paid individuals of the Group
during the vyear included two (2023: two)
directors, details of whose emoluments are

=% (2023%F : =) FARA=E included in the disclosure above. Details of
ERBEEITHRAEBZ&= 5 MIE the remuneration for the year of the remaining
BZEFRMSFBOT : three (2023: three) highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:
HZEIANHILFE
Year ended 31 March
2024 20234
2024 2023
AREFT  ARBFR
RMB’000 RMB’'000
¥ R EMhERL Salaries and other allowances 2,943 1,814
KIBAREEAL Performance related bonuses = =
BRIREAET B R Retirement benefit scheme contributions 93 67
3,036 1,881

EBERERAT Y FR 2023/2024
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WIHARREZAFHMARIAT

Z & LA 12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

The number of the highest paid employees

HEE=EHMESAZRAT : who are not the directors of the Company

whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

HZEIASIHILEFE
Year ended 31 March

2024%F 2023 %
2024 2023
£ %1,000,000% 7T Nil to Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD")
([7#&T]) 1,000,000 2 2
1,000,001 TE
1,500,000/ 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001 L2
2,000,000/ 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1 -
3 &
RBEFEE  AXEBEBEREAEARF During both years, no emolument was paid by the
ESEdhEERTMNAEINMEIESR Group to any of the directors of the Company or the
INAZR & B 5 hn A ZS & B 18 1Y 42 B ok five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
BiE o join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

HE3ASIHLEFE
Year ended 31 March

2024 2023 %
2024 2023
ARBTIT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT E AR QTS AR Earnings for the purpose of calculating
NEBREAREERFNE  basic and diluted earnings per share for
al the year attributable to the owners of the
Company 252,479 405,089
RHEE IR EE
No. of No. of
Shares Shares
BARTEERERATN LR Weighted average number of ordinary
AR AN 15 21 shares for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings per share 681,762,295 675,000,000
TEREEEETE Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
R B B A% A Over-allotment options 676,230 =
BRETE SR ERFMMNIEE Weighted average number of ordinary
R hnEE 35 £ shares for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share 682,438,525 675,000,000

BRETE SR EAR BT M I @R InEF
iﬁ%&)}%ﬁwm %15 Wl K B AN B AT
(NP sE28 FTilt) E R 20224 A1HAE
WEFE -

HATEEBTEEL AR At R
25| EHZE2023F3 A31 B IEEENEFK
g aEA o

SEEZERBRAT ¥ F3k 2023/2024

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share
has been determined based on the assumption that
the share subdivision and capitalization issue as
described in Note 28 had been effective on 1 April
2022.

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2023 was presented as there was no
potential ordinary shares in issue.
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ESE S 14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
HEIR
BT RERRH RE HARE (RRIE)) @zt
Machinery Construction
and Office in progress
Buildings  equipment  Vehicles  equipment (“CIP") Total
ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
A COST
M202254 418 At 1 April 2022 412,272 443,648 9,595 8,835 13,673 888,023
AE Additions 4,040 26,748 696 219 11,847 43,550
BHERTIREA Transfer from CIP 24,708 169 = - (24877 =
HE Disposals - (536) (430) (8) - (974)
EHEE Exchange realignment 57 - 180 38 - 275
1202334318 At 31 March 2023 441,077 470,029 10,041 9,084 643 930,874
HE Additions 155 3,741 492 722 8,405 13,515
BEETRER Transfer from CIP 837 29 = = (866) =
L& Disposals (13) (127) (1,146) - - (1,286)
ER A% Exchange realignment 24 - 77 17 - 118
#202443R31R At 31 March 2024 442,080 473,672 9,464 9,823 8,182 943,221
e DEPRECIATION
R202254 A 18 At 1 April 2022 150,994 236,565 6,213 6,306 - 400,078
FREE Provided for the year 19,992 23,763 804 256 - 44,815
B R B Eliminated on disposals = (281) (387) (8) - (676)
B 5 % Exchange realignment 57 - 127 31 - 215
1202343A31A At 31 March 2023 171,043 260,047 6,757 6,585 - 444,432
FREE Provided for the year 18,154 25,264 837 389 S 44,644
BRI Eliminated on disposals = (12) (1,032) = - (1,044)
X% Exchange realignment 24 - 61 12 - 97
1202453318 At 31 March 2024 189,221 285,299 6,623 6,986 - 488,129
REfE CARRYING VALUES
20243 R318 At 31 March 2024 252,859 188,373 2,841 2,837 8,182 455,092
1202343A31A At 31 March 2023 270,034 209,982 3,284 2,499 643 486,442
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14. BERRE (&) 14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)
L E R FREEE (ERIERIN) A The above items of plant and equipment, except for
BERER T ERGEFE - CIP, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the

following rates per annum:

g TAHA20F - ARG H Buildings Shorter of the term of the
R lease, or 20 years

M es KR 104F Machinery and equipment 10 years

B 5% Vehicles 5 years

NS 5% Office equipment 5 years
REFMEERNEENEREEARR To better manage the Group’s capital structure and
BER AEBFTUEBAKRHEEZE financing needs, the Group enters into sale and
1& 38 18 22 HF Ko A6 B 1 25 78 PO FH & B 2R BA leaseback arrangements in relation to machinery
AR®600THREBEEAREE - tEFE leases and the related machinery will be transferred
FEBENE BB B HREERE 1558 back to the Group at the end of leases at
ARRPIEHEEHE 2 EK - HE20245F consideration of RMB600. These legal transfer does
SHB1HLLFE  AEEEHUHEFER not satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15 to be
MBI ZBFE R ETRA AR 108,348,000 accounted for as a sale of the machinery. During the
7T (20234 : &) (f726) - ERHAR year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has raised
#88,356,000 TIAR ST - HB AR approximately RMB108,348,000 (2023: nil) (Note 26)
#19,992,000 CAE BEWR BT borrowings in respect of such sale and leaseback

arrangements, approximately RMB88,356,000 were
paid in cash and the remaining RMB19,992,000
were paid through notes receivables.
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EHREEE
AEERESERASHLLE - X
BEE - AEERANENTHRNA2
E o

AN ARSHE (REERB T EMAE
i) L fEFARE - — RN FIITRESE
d o

EREEENRSHRNREERRE
REEERRELOTERIIT

15.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases various offices for its operations.
The average lease term of the Group’s office
premises is 2 years for both years.

In addition, lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the land use rights in the PRC, where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located.

The carrying amounts of rights-of-use assets at
end of the reporting period and the depreciation by
classes of rights-of-use assets are set out as below:

RBMEBNITAT - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
MK3A31H
As at 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BREE Carrying amounts
HELH Leasehold land 138,037 141,085
PN ES Office premises 5,967 11,992
144,004 158,077
MR2024F3A31H " 2RIRHAR As at 31 March 2024, lease liabilities
#5,093,0007C (2023F : AR of approximately RMB5,375,000 (2023:

11,117,00070) MIEEEAEEERR
#H AR 5,375,0007T (2023 4F : AR
11,057,000 MAEEE - BHEAA
BENHEEENERESI  BEH
FETEMEMRGE  HELEETSRE
ERIER -

Annual Report 2023/2024

RMB11,057,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB5,093,000
(2023: RMB11,117,000) respectively. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 139



. \¥

e B HRRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. EREEE (&) 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
(CONTINUED)
meBEakEMEEKEREEEBHE The consolidated statement of profit or loss and
ENSEHOT other comprehensive income contain the following

amounts relating to leases:

HE3AZIBHLFE
Year ended 31 March

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RERERNITE Deprecation recognized in profit or loss
HELH Leasehold land 3,048 2,315
/N3 Office premises 6,025 5,429
9,073 7,744
HEIAIHILEFE
Year ended 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERSRLAE Total cash outflow for leases 6,152 89,721
REERAEEE Additions to right-of-use assets - 91,837
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16. B& 16. GOODWILL
BB KK S WEBEERS ast
Acquisition of  Acquisition of
Daxing Migao Baoging Migao Total
ARBETTT AR¥ETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Hiita) (Hiztb)
(Note a) (Note b)
[BFN COST
M2022F 418 Kk
20234 2 2024 5F At 1 April 2022 and 31 March
3H31H 2023 and 2024 2,606 9,463 12,069
REE CARRYING VALUES
2022418 Kk
20234 K 20244 At 1 April 2022 and 31 March
3H31H 2023 and 2024 2,606 9,463 12,069
et - Notes:

(a)

W ENEE2017FE3A318ILE
ERKBEERRNEEERERETAA
([RELK®R ) BELE -

I ER2022F3 A31 A EE K
SBEENMEARAB (BB KE]) &
B

The goodwill was arising from acquisition of Zunyi
Daxing Compound Fertiliser Co., Ltd. (“Daxing
Migao”) during the year ended 31 March 2017.

The goodwill was arising from acquisition of
Baoging Migao Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.
("“Baoging Migao”) on 31 March 2022.
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16. &= (&)

AETRENR  AEOEEMEEL
REeELEN (BEMKXHE A RAEK
BRERAR) PEEZMEHIBEAT

16.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
have been allocated to two individual CGUs,
comprising two subsidiaries, Daxing Migao and

M BREEENT Baoging Migao. The carrying amounts of goodwill
allocated to these two subsidiaries as follows:
M3H31H
As at 31 March
2024 20234
2024 2023
AREFIT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REKE Daxing Migao 2,606 2,606
ZEKE Baoging Migao 9,463 9,463
12,069 12,069

Z MR & EE B A AT IR B 5 TR
FREETEET  ZSTEREER
B AN REAFTFHENTISEEFER
HemETEA  BRHEATMEERE18%
(2023%F : 18%) - AFHME MRS R
EFEARBTEN2% (20234F : 2%) R =X

o ZMERDENBEITELRTE
BB TRBBHEBITENFEYRER
K - FHEENENEMEIERIER
BEEHEEREMNENGETRESRA S
mLEE BRI ERRSELE
UHBFRALREEEBEHMBRENE
HfEH - RREFE @ ARAREZHETE

ReEL BN ERE -

142 XSEEZERER AT Y T 2023/2024

The recoverable amounts of the two CGUs
have been determined based on value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and pre-
tax discount rate of 18% (2023: 18%). The cash
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 2% (2023: 2%) growth rate. This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such
estimation is based on the CGU’s past performance
and management’s expectations for the market
development. During the both years, the directors of
the Company determine that there is no impairment
on the CGUs.
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BmE (&) 16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
AEBM2024F3A31HBBIEIMN% The Group performed sensitivity test on Baoging
(20234 : 1% ) HYRR A% Al AL 3R & oiOR Migao CGU as at 31 March 2024 by increasing 1%
1% (20234 : 1% ) KR HIIE & R of pre-tax discount rate (2023: 1%) or decreasing
5% (20234 : 5%) WIEE HE SR 1% of long-term growth rate (2023: 1%) or
1% (20234 : 1%) MTEHE EF L HBEE decreasing 5% of budgeted sales (2023: 5%) or
KEReEESBMETHRENR - & decreasing 1% of budgeted gross margin (2023:
FBEEMEERFETENERT - ZF 1%), which are the key assumptions determine the
BERREEERRBEELEEMATK recoverable amount of Baoging Migao CGU, with all
bl &R ERER - other variables held constant.
RIBFETHHRREAR  WEERE Based on the sensitivity test performed, no material
KREBMN » N2024F3A31H @ & impairment issue was noted. The headroom of
BARREEABUHBETLNI0% Baoging Migao CGU as at 31 March 2024 is not
(20234 : 22%) ° less than 30% (2023: 22%).
RRABEERE  EAZEREINMEM The directors of the Company believe that any
EENEREHHITeEBYRSELESEN reasonably possible change in any of these
WIREEBBZESEASEMAIKE assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
BFE o of a CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of that
CGU.
BILEE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSET
EFE%
Customer
relationship
AREFTT
RMB’000
BN COST
202244 A1 8 ~ 20234
20243 H31H At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 2024 15,850
3 AMORTISATION
202264 H1H At 1 April 2022 8,718
FREE Provided for the year 1,585
7202343 H31H At 31 March 2023 10,303
FREE Provided for the year 1,585
R2024F3A31H At 31 March 2024 11,888
BREE CARRYING VALUES
1K2024F3H31H At 31 March 2024 3,962
M202343HA31H At 31 March 2023 5,547
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17. B &EE (&) 17. INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)
RNERBEBEHPESHERBETD Customer relationship acquired in the business
BRIREREBEE - BEFBEREE combination of Daxing Migao is identified and
BEEFPBENAERAFAEE - K2 recognised as an intangible asset. The aggregate
RNECREMITHELR  TPERKEE amount of customer relationship is amortised
BR - ARREFFEHEFPBENE over the period of the useful lives of the customer
REEAR105F - relationship. With reference to experience in the

industry, customer bases and operation of Daxing
Migao, the directors of the Company assessed the
useful life of the customer relationship to be 10
years.

18. R—EEELEIELE 18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

M3A31H
As at 31 March
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTIT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—MEaErEZIELET
TR AN Cost of unlisted interest in a joint venture 79,847 79,847
Share of post-acquisition, profits and other
FEAG W B 12 03 ) I E At comprehensive income, net of dividends
2 HE U (R B MR 2D received 36,460 42,452
116,307 122,299

RIERR - AEERLEEFBOT

BRAR Rl ek
Place of
Name of entity Incorporation
Eurochem Migao Limited ([Eurochem JV]) &%
Eurochem Migao Limited (“Eurochem JV") Hong Kong

144 XSEEZERER AT Y T 2023/2024

Details of the Group's joint venture at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

ERKEf ARKEAHR
FTEEENE  ERORAREZLA By oA ] TEEK
Principal Proportion of nominal value
place of of issued share capital held  Proportion of voting rights  Principal
operation by the Group held by the Group activity
R20245  W2023F  R2024% 2023
3A31A 3A31H 3A31A 3A31A
At At At At
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2024 2023
el 50% 50% 50% 50% REER
Investment
The PRC 50% 50% 50% 50% holding
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18. R—EEELE o #ER (8) 18.

BRANEDEZARNAEESE MR
MBEEMBREHIINT - MBEER TR
BEBMBHRELENRR -

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of
the Group’s joint venture which are accounted for
using equity method is set out below. The financial
information is prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®ETTT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MBEE Current assets 639 2,125
ERBEE Non-current assets 231,975 242 473
BEFE Net assets 232,614 244,598
HEIA3IHILEE
Year ended 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBETTT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wz Revenue = -
FA(BE) &M EEAE (Loss) profit and total comprehensive
() Wz=4a%8 (expense) income for the year (11,984) 22,534
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18. R—REE&E X ZER (&) 18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)
|t i B 7 B R B AR A B I B RHERR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
R Eurochem JV i) # %5 AR H (B 41 AR information to the carrying amount of the interest

in Eurochem JV recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

M3A31H
As at 31 March

2024 2023 %

2024 2023

ARBEFTT ARKETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Eurochem JVAY & EFE Net assets of Eurochem JV 232,614 244,598

ARE B M Eurochem JVAIFTA Proportion of the Group’s ownership

HErEz LBl interest in Eurochem JV 50% 50%
AL E R Eurochem JVZ 5 Carrying amount of the Group's interest in

fIARMEE Eurochem JV 116,307 122,299

19. EEHIE 19. DEFERRED TAXATION
M3 HA31H
As at 31 March

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

ARBTT ARKETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BEFRIRE G Deferred tax liabilities 2,783 3,173

ELERBAE Deferred tax assets (3,699) (4,451)

(916) (1,278)
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EFER IR (4)

AEERAFERBEFERRNEL
HAAE(BE) REZFHNT :

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised by the
Group and the movements thereon during the
current and prior year are as follows:

EHMREE EBEHH

BIARE BEEE AQATERAE st
Fair value
adjustment
ECL in business

Tax losses provision consolidation Total

ARBETT ARBTT ARETT AR®TRT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

20224518 At 1 April 2022 (211) (4,763) 3,581 (1,393)
MR A (FTA) Bz Charged (credited) to profit

(K17%9) or loss (Note 9) 109 414 (408) 115

20233 F31H At 31 March 2023 (102) (4,349) 3,173 (1,278)
MR A (FFA) B Charged (credited) to profit

(H1a£9) or loss (Note 9) 102 650 (390) 362

M2024F3F31H At 31 March 2024 = (3,699) 2,783 (916)

FE INVENTORIES
M3A31H
As at 31 March

20245 20234

2024 2023

AREFTT AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

R Raw materials 373,258 121,553

SURY Gh Finished goods 68,983 19,773

B R E AR Packing and other materials 5,371 4,698

FiEE M Goods in transit 1,714 5,565

449,326 151,589
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21. EZREMERFEURTARN 21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

I8 AND PREPAYMENTS
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
2024 £ 20234
2024 2023
ARETIT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 W GRIE Trade receivables 32,878 109,512
RAZEWGRIE (Kiita) Unbilled receivables (Note a) 140,999 90,858
B EEEERE Less: allowance for credit losses (14,803) (17,4083)
159,074 182,967
B EE Bills receivables 422,086 140,886
581,160 323,853
MW3HA31H
As at 31 March
2024 5 20234
2024 2023
ARETIT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEENRIE (#i7b) Inventories prepayment (Note b)
—F£=5 — third parties 1,758,736 1,278,116
— G - a joint venture = 30,520
1,758,736 1,308,636
FEIEBET TR A Deferred issue costs = 14,739
REH R FIE Value-added tax receivables 50,169 30,016
Hi U GRIE « & &R Other receivables, deposits and
RIE prepayments 47,937 57,828
1,856,842 1,411,219
2,438,002 1,735,072
DR Analysed as:
mEp Current 2,428,151 1,730,694
IETRE Non-current 9,851 4,378
2,438,002 1,735,072

148 XS EEZERER AT ¥ Fi 2023/2024



21.

e B WK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%%&gf@@ﬂ&%ﬁﬁu&ﬁﬁ 21.
I (&)
Hat

(a) AAREURSREEAEEERNEmM
BHAAENEFTHERE AEEE
B 5 1 UER K B 3 FE MR FR 8 A A
- ZERBEHERAFERE
180 H AR E I A 1218 A AUER »

(b) M2024F3A31H @ REFUAEE
FHEFARAZREEEELFERS
FIBH AR 271,448,0007T (2023
F:/|) mMEREENIIEHA MR
B (F2HEME32) -

R2022F 4818 REFFAERNES
EUWHRERRAAZRKGIEREA RS
AR #308,305,0007T °

NEE—RBFOE180EMNEEH -« K
EEBTFLEEEETPNEEEETR
FEEPHTIRREERE

ATRRBEMRERBERZAHZY
RIGEEBERBBREERRIINE
5 EYKIAD T :

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Unbilled receivables represents accrued sales
for goods delivered by the Group but yet to bill.
The Group has unconditional right to the payment
of the unbilled receivables which is expected to
be billed within 180 days and received within 12
months from the end of the year.

(b) As at 31 March 2024, the Group made inventory
prepayment to various suppliers of approximately
RMB271,448,000 (2023: nil) by endorsed billed for
which the maturity dates of the bills receivables
have not yet fallen due (see Note 32).

As at 1 April 2022, gross trade receivables and
unbilled receivables from contracts with customers
amount to RMB308,305,000 in aggregate.

The Group generally allows credit period ranging
from 0 to 180 days. The Group will assess the credit
quality of each potential customer and define rating
and credit limit for each customer.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by
age, net of allowance for credit losses, presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

M3A31H

As at 31 March
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBETTT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

B S EWRRE Trade receivables

90H N Within 90 days 17,784 26,129
912 180H 91-180 days 291 56,203
181%£365H 181-365 days 759 8,893
S Over 1 year 1,784 3,302
20,618 94 527
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21. BEZRHEHMBERFIEUR AN

MN202463A31H  EWREBIEEBENA
AE#412,307,0007C (20234 : ARE
130,185,0007T) * B — PR AEER,
BREE - AEBRAMEFEREER
REZHEEE (FBEHEBERMHEI2) -
REBWEMATA ZEEIHERE DR

— (202345 : —F) o

M2024%3 A31H

fEIWB|ELD - AEREYERZFTE
BEMERm

AEERABCITENTEYHREE
AIEIRMENBREE SR RZRE
(A EESAFAIEE) - MABEREHENE
SREYGIAM S @ BEF 2 ERIF AR E
BREBEMREBEASEAREETL EL
EEBERERETHEHRTESRER
R UREBARERSR EELAER
B RHE R BRE TR RERB R
EEHAE - 5 R HEAMBKIANR

EFHEF ISR HIFES4 -

150 KSEEZERER AT ¥ F 2023/2024

CEREABEA A
R#2 834,0007T (20234 : AR
68,398,0007T) MEUWIAE + Bt AR
SENEZRERRELES  ZZEXER
HEBBHEAN  ERSHHEST
AR®2543,0007T (20234 : AR%
12,195,0007T) EAHIQO KA £ - M
ERNZETPHNR T ENRGDE - S

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, total bills received amounting
to approximately RMB412,307,000 (2023:
RMB130,185,000), was further discounted or
endorsed by the Group. The Group continues to
recognize their full carrying amounts at the end of
both years and details are disclosed in Note 32.
All bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year (2023: one year).

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB2,834,000
(2023: RMB68,398,000) which is past due as at
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB2,543,000 (2023: RMB12,195,000) has been
past due for 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 as
disclosed in Note 34. For trade receivables with
significant amounts, they are assessed individually
for impairment allowance and collectively for
remaining trade receivables based on the
Group's internal credit rating, historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date. Details of impairment assessment of trade and
other receivables are set out in Note 34.
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22.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS

M3A31H
As at 31 March
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
ARKETTT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WA EEEFRTE © Amounts due from joint ventures:
Bo5ME Trade nature
— EEBEZEIEE
BB R A ] — Yunnan EuroChem Fertiliser Technology
(IEmBREER]) Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Eurochem”)
(K15t (a)) (Note (a)) 13,862 14,258
FEZEHME Non-trade nature
— Eurochem JV
(K152 (b)) — Eurochem JV (Note (b)) 4,658 13,232
18,520 27,490
FEU — R AR FIA Amount due from a shareholder
FEHME Non-trade nature
B (Bt (c)) Mr. Liu (Note (c)) - 8,885
FE{ST RS A R FA Amount due to a related company
FEHME Non-trade nature
— T KSR AR AR
(Ktst(d)) — APPH (Note (d)) - (175,716)
REBBM AR ZEE
(Hizt(e)) Loan from a related company (Note (e))
FBSHHEE Non-trade nature - (105,817)
BN —EEs ARz
HEARE Lease liabilities to a related company
— BFERAK® (MEE () - Zunyi Migao (Note (f)) (1,915) (4,332)
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22. BBLEHRERXS (&)

Wit

ERBZEENEEurochem JV
HEERE -  HERMBAEZN
HE ZRBEHRRE RV E R
BN MIEE - —RME - BS
HFHEEHAIB - xE4
HRAEERRES o

AN RA KB R IRERIZ %
SR HAEDENES
RS AR B D AT -

0ZE90H 0 - 90 days

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

Yunnan Eurochem is the joint venture of
Eurochem JV. Trade related balances with
Yunnan Eurochem arose from sales of raw
materials and finished goods. In general,
90 days credit period is allowed. These
balances were unsecured and interest-free.

The following is an aged analysis of the
Group’s trade related balances with joint
ventures at the end of the reporting period
presented based on invoice date:

H3A31H
As at 31 March
2024 20234
2024 2023
AREEF T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
13,862 14,258

MW2024%F3A31H  KX&EE
INEEZRMAEEDEELR
BB R MR K BUBK ah O TR A 3R
AARM1,477,0007T (2023
& AR®33,061,0007T) °
HEW % 2 55 B i R 5 H
(RLMFE32) °

152 KEEEERARAT VY £/ 2023/2024

As at 31 March 2024, the Group made
prepayment for purchase of raw materials
and finished goods to the joint venture of
RMB1,477,000 (2023: RMB33,061,000) by
endorsed billed for which the maturity dates
of the bills receivables have not yet fallen
due (see Note 32).

.
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FEY Eurochem JV FIBEXE
FEALEENR Eurochem JV
ME—MRITRAS ° 5K
HAIESHEE 28 - EIF
HRBREREE -

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) The amount due from Eurochem JV mainly
represents the general and administrative
expenses that the Group paid on behalf
of Eurochem JV. The amounts are non-
trade nature, interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand.

HZE3A3IBLEFE
BeeR
Maximum amount during the Year
ended 31 March

2024 % 20234

2024 2023

AR®EF T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Eurochem JV Eurochem JV 13,232 15,378
ERBEERELEIEE S (c) The amount due from Mr. Liu was non-

B %8 BERARARENX
B8 - HBRRNFARBESE

=E
/B °

254 Mr. Liu

trade nature, interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand. The balance has
been fully settled during the year.

HZESASIHILFE
ReLR
Maximum amount during the Year
ended 31 March

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
3,535 B/5E8
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22. BBLEHRERXS (&)

(d)  ARDBARFICEER AR T EE
- LR R 2 A 5 [ R B
77 o TSR ASFREE R RIE A
FESHUE 2B - EEAR
RRBENRER - BHNFAE

=
ﬂ%%{%%/ﬁ °

HZE2023%F3831HILF
B AEERKREAFEER
B KM IEIEAR E — R LR
ZEER R —ER HUE R X
NIRE - tERZTHERN—Z
D AEBBBRZEEDS
FHERSBEEEEMN AR
TRREE TRIE © ZZHER
HZE2023F3A31BILLFE

FERX

(e) M2023F2A » REKRSEH
JEIER R BRI RTRR
REEBRBEEREERA
Al (AT EE T AREESE
EEELEELERERAA
(2T RN MEEZER
AAEB—EHEBEARE
105,000,000t ° ZEEE A
FEHME -\ RETE
FEFEE5%ETE - W H20234F
12 ABEAREBEEER -

MR2024F 18 ZEXKSH
EEILLARMNEEERA
AI(TERA B —%$3H1E
B AR¥120,750,0007T ° iZ
SEEARIFBHIEY - HIK
o RBETEFNEA%EE ©
R2024%F3 8  A&EE - EXR
ARERABB AR =4
Wik WEREEREEREA
BEaEHARR121,649,000

JT °©

22|
LR E AN R R
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BT R

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

APPH has been identified as a related
party of the Group as it is controlled by
Mr. Liu. The amount due to APPH was non-
trade nature, interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand. The balance has
been fully settled during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group received and paid the cash on
behalf of APPH for a transaction entered
into between APPH and a supplier. As
part of the arrangement, the Group repaid
certain amount due to APPH by transferring
the same amount to that supplier. The
arrangement had been completed during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

In February 2023, Anda Migao obtained
a new loan of RMB105,000,000 from
the immediate holding company of
Heilongjiang Beidahuang Modern
Agricultural Services Group Agricultural
Materials Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Heilongjiang Beidahuang Seed Industry
Group Agricultural Production Materials
Co., Ltd.) (“Heilongjiang BeidaHuang”),
a non-controlling shareholder. The loan
was non-trade nature, unsecured, carries
interest at fixed rate of 5% per annum. The
loan has been fully repaid by the Group in
December 2023.

In January 2024, Anda Migao obtained
a new loan of RMB120,750,000 from the
immediate holding company of Heilongjiang
BeidaHuang (the “Lender”). The loan
was non-trade nature, unsecured, carries
interest at fixed rate of 4% per annum. In
March 2024, the Group, the Lender and
a related company of the Lender entered
into a tripartite agreement to transfer the
loan to contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB121,649,000.

The entity has been identified as a related
party of the Group as it is controlled by Mr.
Liu.

N .
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22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

HZESASIHILEE
Year ended 31 March

N ‘

) NI R RE5ME 20245 2023 F
Name of related companies Nature of transactions 2024 2023
ARBFL — ARETI
RMB’000 RMB’000
gL
Joint venture
THMEEN SHERME R m
Yunnan Eurochem Sales of raw materials and finished goods 306,009 156,515
B E R R
Purchases of raw materials and finished goods 2,172 2,994
BB AR
Related companies
EExRE BERMK
Shanghai Migao * Purchases of raw materials - 410
BERD FEMAX
Zunyi Migao Interest expense 190 337
Twin Castle International Limited
([Twin Castle])** SHERR @
Twin Castle International Limited
(“Twin Castle”)** Sales of finished goods NEA N/A 27,000
BETI AR Z@HRA A%
A related company of Heilongjiang
BeidaHuang Interest expense - 5,008
Eﬁg/litj(/luZEhﬁ J—L/_\ %”Eﬁi
The immediate holding company of
Heilongjiang Beidahuang Interest expense 4,865 817
* S o S A - AR * The entity has been identified as a related
R AN W R T o party of the Group as it is controlled by Mr.
Liu.
> Twin Castle has been identified as a related

e Twin Castle %Ik AT EHx

B MEERERANEENE o , ,
BT o Twin  Castle g1 2% by Mr. Liu's close family member. Twin

party of the Group as they are controlled

HH3T A B R 202342 A6 Castle has been disposed of by Mr. Liu's
AHET—L2BIS=FH & close family member to an independent
B 202342 A6 H MR ANER third party on 6 February 2023 and became
H—BE=T - a third party of the Group since 6 February

2023.
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22. BBMLEBRRERS (&)

AEEREZTEBHITLAT
X5 (@)

(b)

MR2024F3A318 » "X AAHA
BARETFAEENRITHER
HYBER  2BHFAARE
280,000,0007T (20234 : AR
280,000,0007T) ©

TEEEAEME
HE20244F 20233 A31HIE

FE G EERHEMTIEZEEEK
B2 HMERME12 -

(c)

156 X SEEERER AT Y 51§ 2023/2024

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

The Group entered into the
following transactions with related
parties: (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, related parties of the
Company provided financial guarantees
in respect of bank facilities granted to the
Group amounted to RMB280,000,000 (2023:
RMB280,000,000).

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other
members of key management during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is set
out in Note 12.

()
e
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ZRERE ROEHRRRASE

R2024F 220233 A318 » A&EE R
FERESHNZRHIRSOT

23.

RESTRICTED CASH/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had
restricted cash pledged for credit facilities as
follows:

MK3A31H

As at 31 March
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERRIE Bills payables 109,975 148,775
ERERTEX Deposits for letter of credits 42,230 21,709
152,205 170,484

JENZEABITRARMIEANE
Z . HEEMNREERZERMEIEA -
BIERIRITEI I WEMN ZE W - 25
RIEWETLHAETARITIEREMNE
BEREES - H2024F3 8318 @ fE
HEEG XA ARE219,940,0007T
(20234 : AR#281,722,0007T) ° A
2024F3HA31H » XRHIIAEF K&
B2 RN F0.01%E2.25% (20234
0.01%%E2.25%) °

AEBMRITHEBRIBIRITHIGN KGR -

A bills payable is a draft issued by a bank for
payments in future, which defers the payment until
the due date for redeeming the bill. According to the
bills payables agreement with the bank, a certain
percentage of the bills amount is required to be
deposited at the bank as security for bills payables
which total of approximately RMB219,940,000 as
at 31 March 2024 (2023: RMB281,722,000). The
interest rate of restricted cash ranged from 0.01%
to 2.25% as at 31 March 2024 (2023: and 0.01% to
2.25%).

Bank balances of the Group carry interest at
prevailing market interest rates.
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24. BEFRHEMEMNRE 24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
M3HA31H
As at 31 March
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARBFIT ARBETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 RN IR Trade payables 129,991 215,153
i ANES Bills payables 219,940 281,722
H b e B IE Other tax payables 128,794 97,455
ErtEERX Accrued employee expense 4,252 4,561
FERT TR AR ETRAX Accrued issue costs and listing expenses 18,480 8,043
E g K AN FE T 5RIE Payables for transportation costs 1,170 2,798
ERIERYE BER
R R FRIE Payables for CIP and PPE 307 =
HA Others 16,581 20,898
519,515 630,630
AEE-RBEEHEERESIOBZE180 The Group normally receives credit terms of 90
HHEEH UTARSRERRIEE to 180 days from its suppliers. The following is an
ZHHZIRERIDNE HENIE analysis of the trade and bills payables by age,
PYANES SR presented based on the invoice date at the end of

the reporting period:

M3 A31H

As at 31 March
2024 20234
2024 2023
AREFIT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000

BESENNRE Trade payables

0%£90H 0 - 90 days 104,530 66,221
91%&180H 91 — 180 days 20,924 104,101
1812360 H 181 — 360 days 1,621 41,075
1A E Over 1 year 2,916 3,756
129,991 215,153
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BZ RHEMENRIE (F)

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(CONTINUED)
M3 A31H

As at 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
AREF T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

ENREE Bills payables

0Z90H 0 - 90 days 171,600 88,714
91%180H 91 — 180 days 48,340 28,728
1812360 H 181 — 360 days - 164,280
219,940 281,722

B ENZER A ARK22,882,0007T
(20234 : AR¥97,124,0007T) W4 %8
BB ZRENNEEEZEEZREN
HEWZEZZHARSREHRE A
EIHA (R F7E32) ©

eREE 25.
ENA Current
ERAaE Contract liabilities

Included in the trade payables, are RMB22,882,000
(2023: RMB97,124,000) which had been settled by
endorsed bills for which the maturity dates of the
bills receivables have not yet fallen due as at the
end of the reporting period (see Note 32).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

M3HA31H
As at 31 March
20244 202345
2024 2023
ARBFT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
745,120 335,978

MR2022F4A18 ' REEFARNER
BEAAREE611,973,0007T °

EAKREAEE MR A B E P KEIHA
- BIEREREE  E8RNE RN
RELAFAE BEEHESRERR
W BB ERRIE /L - AEE—RK
EETHEFPEAKET LA RERERK
BAARBHZ0% E100%1ERIRSE o

Annual Report 2023/2024

As at 1 April 2022, contract liabilities from contracts
with customers amounted to RMB611,973,000.

Contract liabilities are recognised when the Group
receives an amount from customers before goods
are delivered, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the beginning of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the
amount received. The Group typically receives a
deposit of 30% — 100% of total consideration from
certain customers when they enter into the contracts
with the Group.
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25. EREE (&) 25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)
REABRO =B ERRE BHEAG Revenue recognised during the vyear included
HHERBESEHE RNER - HERA the whole amount of contract liabilities at the
T FEEKNBHRTERKE beginning of the reporting period. There was no
revenue recognised during the year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior
years.
26. & 26. BORROWINGS
M3 H31H
As at 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
AREEFTT ARETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITER Bank loans 320,800 244,738
RITHEEZHBRENCDAIE
EWERIERME (H7Z  Advance from banks on discounted bills
32) receivables with full recourse (Note 32) 116,015 -
HER (f7E14) Other loans (Note 14) 108,348 =
545,163 244,738
M3A318
As at 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARETIT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DL Analysed as:
BN &R Current 380,736 164,738
JERNHR Non-current 164,427 80,000
545,163 244,738
DITET Analysed as:
B Secured 465,163 214,738
IR Unsecured 80,000 30,000
545,163 244,738
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B ()

26. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

M3A31H
As at 31 March
2024%F 2023%F
2024 2023
ARBTTT AR¥TTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REAEE NTRER—FA Carrying amount repayable* within one
EEREE year and shown under current liabilities
RITEX Bank loans 336,915 164,738
HiE X Other loans 43,821 =
380,736 164,738
Carrying amount repayable* within a period
JERBEEE N/RARKIE  of more than one year but not exceeding
—FENBBRFEHREA two years and shown under non-current
EE M AREE liabilities
RITEX Bank loans 99,900 80,000
HibhER Other loans 64,527 =
164,427 80,000
545,163 244,738

© BISRORARE B b A T 0
B A -

AEEDERATEETRITAS WM
1B 757 58 10 3R 5 B K A R O R 4T
BA S (TR 5 0 IR (U314
FrEEL) ¢

*

The amounts due are based on scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

The Group had pledged the following assets to
banks or a financial institution as securities against
the banking facilities granted to the Group or the
sales and leaseback transactions as detailed in
Note 14 at the end of the reporting period:

M3A31H

As at 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARBET T AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B K& Plant and equipment 85,037 30,484
FAEEE Right-of-use assets 21,682 18,278
106,719 48,762
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26. fE (%)

AEBEREERAENBERFFE (IR
SREARFIR) LEMT

26.

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum

(which are also equal to contractual interest rates)
on the Group’s borrowings and their carrying values
are as follow:

M3H31H
As at 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET T ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(& TE F = AE K Fixed-rate borrowings:
AAREEGHE (7R 2024F
3A31HNF3.90%% Denominated in RMB (ranging from
7.33% (20234 : 3.40% 3.90% to 7.33 % as at 31 March 2024
Z5.00%)) (2023: 3.40% to 5.00%)) 365,363 90,000
ET([Ex])FHAE Denominated in United States Dollar
(R2024F3A31BAZ (*USD”) (nil as at 31 March 2024
(20234 : 4.05%)) (2023: 4.05%)) - 24,738
365,363 114,738
TFENFIEMERK Variable-rate borrowings:
AAREEEHE (FR2024 45
3A31ANF3.05% % Denominated in RMB (ranging from
4.75% (20234 : 3.25% 3.05% to 4.75% as at 31 March 2024
F£4.95%)) (Htet) (2023: 3.25% to 4.95%)) (Note) 179,800 130,000
545,163 244,738

Hiat - BUAARBEENZEF ERITER
mE ' FEFER2024F3 31BN
T REBFRNENERERFERH
138% (20234 : NI HREEMEH
89% Z HEEFEH136%) - HEE
MEATFBRARBITEERAHAF
B S EEFE -

162 KSEEZERAER AT ¥ Fi 2023/2024

Note:

For variable-rate borrowings denominated in RMB,
the variable rates at range from 88% of Prime to
138% of Prime as at 31 March 2024 (2023: range
from 89% of Prime to 136% of Prime). Prime is
the prime rate in China, which is determined and
announced by the People Bank of China.
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27. HEARE 27. LEASE LIABILITIES
M3A31H
As at 31 March
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
ARETFT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FIERR ST Maturity analysis:
THB—F Less than one year 4,977 6,151
1224 1 to 2 years 536 4,977
2%E54 2 to 5 years - 536
5,513 11,664
W RKREE R Less: Future finance charges (138) (607)
HEETHRE Present value of lease obligations 5,375 11,057
DT : Analysed as:
BNEA Current 4,841 5,681
FEBNER Non-current 534 5,376
5,375 11,057
MR202463 A3 1 BHBMEEERERAN The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
IniEFIIE S ERENENF5.38%F applied by the relevant group entities range from
6.30% (20234 : 5.35%%6.30%) ° 5.38% to 6.30% per annum as at 31 March 2024

(2023: 5.35% to 6.30%).
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28.

164 >

LN 28. SHARE CAPITAL
RHER &N 255
Number of Share
shares capital Presented as
£% ARETR
usSD RMB’000
EE Authorised
R2022F4H1H & At 1 April 2022 and 31 March
20233 H31H 2023 50,000 50,000
R4 HR 48 (i) Share subdivision (i) 4,950,000 =
&0 (i) Increase (ii) 9,995,000,000 950,000
R2024F3HA31H At 31 March 2024 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
ERTREHR Issued and fully paid
R2022F4 1B K At 1 April 2022 and 31 March
20233 H31H 2023 10,000 10,000 66
& 7 3 48 (i) Share subdivision (i) 990,000 = =
B AT (i) Capitalisation issue (iii) 674,000,000 6,740,000 47,832
RERAFZEER  Issue of new shares upon the
BATEIR (iv) IPO (iv) 225,000,000 2,250,000 15,963
MK2024F3A31H At 31 March 2024 900,000,000 9,000,000 63,861

(i)

R2024F2 A28 8 » ARFEFEMA (i)
50,0003 7T 150,000 % F AL E 1 3£

TR R4 E5,000,000 % F A E
B0.01ETTHRG - At - AREE

BT REEIRANE B 10,0008 &A%

E{E1E TR R 35 12 1,000,000 f%
SIEE0.01= TR °

W2024F2H28H @ AR A (ii)
AEBRABHS50,000FE LD B
5,000,000 T EEO0.01EITLH

f& 5 ¥ HZ=100,000,000EF D A
10,000,000,000 i B A E{E0.013E T

B °

SEEEZERAERART ¥ F3k 2023/2024

On 28 February 2024, the authorised share capital
of the Company of USD50,000 was subdivided
from 50,000 shares of USD1 each to 5,000,000
shares of USD0.01 each. As a result, the number of
issued and fully paid share capital of the Company
was increased from 10,000 shares of USD1 each
to 1,000,000 shares of USD0.01 each.

On 28 February 2024, the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased from USD50,000
divided into 5,000,000 shares of USDO0.01 each
to USD100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of USD0.01 each.
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R (&)

(i)  BER2024F2F28ABBRHIME
EERZR AR ARRRRKRND S
ERREIRS 56,740,000 F T A BT
BARMARNARBEEMATZI AR
AR A M AR R RS RESREE
0.012E7T#9674,000,000 &4 = A °

(iv)  M2024F3H21H + KRR TEHKE
17225,000,000 % F A& E{E0.013% T
BT D (BREEBAEBRRM4.08%8
JC  FTS sRIB 48585 918,000,000 %
7T (HHER#H ARES32,718,0007T))
&« BRINREERFTER £ o

RIRERIGETE

ARBZMBRBRERATERFER
ZBERARBHEEIKE - PENEAR
ABRFHMK A 2 —E B L RRKRE
MEFBIHER - MMERZFRAZESR -
AEBEBRERKRENFEZE-BERE

HAEE HAK -

HE2024%53A31BILEEBHER
MBEBEERKEBAEK AN B A
R 3,865,000t (20234 : AR
4,229,0007T) °

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(iii) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the
shareholder passed on 28 February 2024, the
Company capitalised the sum of USD6,740,000
standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company and applied the amount
towards paying up in full 674,000,000 shares of
nominal value of USD0.01 each for allotment to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company immediately before
the Listing.

(iv) On 21 March 2024, the Company was successfully
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
following the completion of issuance of
225,000,000 new shares of USD0.01 each issued
at an offer price of HKD4.08 per share and the
total proceed was HKD918,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB832,718,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries are
members of a state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost of state-managed retirement
benefits charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB3,865,000 (2023: RMB4,229,000).
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30. REHEE 30.

RAFERDAOMERS WA BARE
844,0007T (20234 : AR 1,127,000
J0) c FTEWMER T —FE (2023F : K
RAEFE) EBEALRE -

R ERYCRBERBEEN RN T

OPERATING LEASES

Property rental income earned during the year was
RMB844,000 (2023: RMB1,127,000). The properties
held have committed tenants for the next one year
(2023: next two years).

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases
are as follows:

N .

M3 A31H
As at 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AREETTT AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FR Within one year 411 977
FEF In the second year - 347
411 1,324
31. EREE 31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
M3H31H
As at 31 March
2024 20234
2024 2023
AREFIT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NGRS Commitments for capital expenditure 165,873 231

166 KEEMERAMRAT VY £/ 2023/2024



32.

e B WK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EZEoRMEE

AT AAREBR2024F3 A31H Kk2023
FIH3 B zeMEE HONUE2EE
REEFRSIEEZERREE TR
EETIRITHREER BN AEE RS
EEZEEWFIEAENE AR R K E
W MHEBEERREREE2HBER
B WEMNRMIBEREEEREAEEFAN
W3R & 1ERBIRIBER (RHiE26) sl
ERESERNEEEREREENES
FRE;EZERNZFENZIERE(R
fizEo4) - ZEeMEERAEB 2 KA
B AR O 3= F 8 SR AR B B o

32.

Bills receivables
discounted to

BRATRER

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s financial assets as
at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 that were
transferred to banks or suppliers by discounting
or endorsing those bills receivables on a full
recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these
receivables, it continues to recognise the full
carrying amount of the bills receivables and has
recognised the cash received on the transfer as a
secured borrowing (see Note 26) for discounted
bills receivables or it continues to recognise the full
carrying amount of the bills receivables and the full
carrying amount of the trade payables (see Note
24) for endorsed bills receivables. These financial
assets are carried at amortised cost in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position.

mtEEEE [
EE2E
BREN

D ES

Bills receivables
endorsed to

BELEEE
EE2M
BREMN
RKEE @it
Bills receivables
endorsed to a

ERZE
EREN
EREE

banks with suppliers with joint venture with

full recourse full recourse full recourse Total

ARETR  ARMTRE  ARETR = ARETR

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Carrying amount of

BREENREE transferred assets 116,500 294,330 1,477 412,307
Carrying amount of

HEaENRAR associated liabilities (116,015) (22,882) = (138,897)

485 271,448 1,477 273,410
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32. BEEIBMEE (&)

32. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(CONTINUED)
EIR1TRE EHEREE BRELEEE
BEZE BEZE BEZA
BEEN BEEN BREN
RREE ERERE EWRERE @t
Bills receivables Bills receivables Bills receivables
discounted to endorsed to endorsed to a
banks with suppliers with joint venture with
full recourse full recourse full recourse Total
ARETRE  ARMTE  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Carrying amount of
EEEENERAA transferred assets - 97,124 33,061 130,185
Carrying amount of
HHaENRAEE associated liabilities - (97,124) = (97,124)
- - 33,061 33,061

33. EXERER

AEEEREER S RIRAE T
BEE  ANEBELEBRBATE
RBRFMBADR - A%EEH 2 BRE
B F— R TE -

AEBBERRBEBENME26KEDN
B3R~ W22 IRBEN RN — KB A
AHEE HRIBANKE — KA AR
BE MBRASRRESFEVARAR
AEA AEEER (BEEBRITRA R
) e

ARBEFTEHRNERRRE - ERIL
BREZz 80 ARREFEEEARN
AR BRI E AR ER - RIE
ARBEFZEZ  AKEKEBXN
B BT BREMEKRMEER
BEHAFEOHLERERLRE -
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33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
Group will be able to be continued as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balances. The Group’'s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
borrowings disclosed in Note 26, non-trade amounts
due to a related company and loan from a related
company, disclosed in Note 22, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of the review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital and risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors
of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, new
share issues, raising of new debts and repayment
of existing debts.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20244 20234
2024 2023
AREFTT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERMEE : Financial assets:
R SRR AR Y
SMEE (BIFRIT Financial assets at amortised cost
EHREEE) (including bank balances and cash) 1,577,526 918,646
=== Financial liabilities:
BEERCAR Amortised cost 931,632 1,054,885

AEENEIEERTABREES
REMBHKRE BREZDRE
KB BR—BRERRE X
R#RE RITEHEEAS B
7 R EMENRIE - B —KE
BARRIE  REMEBARZE
R ERREEARG -  ARAZT
& BT B a9 5 15 7 48 B P A B
B-EzEemTI ARBRNRER
BREMSERE (R & R E
) EERRERBDESRER
Zn a0 B % 5 R B ) BRSR B T
X -EBREEERERZTRAR
R+ DARE R B B e B 280 SR EX
BEREE

The major financial instruments of the Group
include trade and other receivables, amounts
due from joint ventures, amount due from a
shareholder, restricted cash, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, amount
due to a related company, loan from a related
company, borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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34. TEMITH (&) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

AEBEAINERITHES  BH
R Bt FEAS SRIRIA S fE 5K #E T
EAKEHEINERR - AEE
B A0 SN SR BUR o R
AL BT E B SMNE B R 3 R
BERBREELENERINERR

RBEHR  NREBZEUINE
FHEMEBEERERBEZR

The Group has foreign-currency bank
balances, trade and other payables, and
borrowings, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Group
monitor foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s major
foreign currency denominated monetary

EHEMAT : assets and monetary liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:
BE BfE
MN3H31H MN3H31H
Assets Liabilities
As at 31 March As at 31 March
2024 % 2023%F 20245 20234
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARBFL ARETLT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ET usD 160,418 34 2,509 27,247
BT HKD 353,933 147 - -
514,351 181 2,509 27,247
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TR T A (&)

AEBHBEXTRETLARE
ME R LR -

TRFVNEZE2024F3831H
HFEAEEHENARERZT
AT EF R T #5% (20234 -
5%) BBRE ° 5% (2023 4F :
5%) JyAIEBEIE A B A IPER
SNE R AR SRE LR -
REREIRE Y INEERSIRA] B
BEEHZTM  c HEAEDWN
EREMNESHENREEEKE
B - 3RS B R LA 5 % IS BE
REFHFBREBME - TUHIEE
RNEARBHIBEEEFAES%
B ANEERBEEEFEM- =
MARE S EEEBEES% @ 8
CSHAFERTERNELEER
MIARSE -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The Group is exposed to fluctuation in USD
and HKD against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB against USD and HKD
for the year ended 31 March 2024. 5%
(2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-
tax profit for the year where RMB strengthen
5% against the relevant currency. For a
5% weakening of RMB against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the
year.

HESIASIBLLEE
Year ended 31 March

20245 20234

2024 2023

AREET T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

UsD (6,591) 1,157

BT HKD (14,777) (6)
(21,368) 1,151
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34. £®MIH(E)

AEENAFEMRERTEZ SR
BlEMEERRKOBB AR Z
HEERR -

LR B R e ELF B A R AR
RRHRe RRITERBBOR
ERAMEER - AEEOBRS
FRIRIT T I5 M 2 4 5 58 H A5 5K OA
BEEREQATENERR -RE
MAMEREREEEPFRAKEE
RELHNZEEN KR -

LR B B AT I 8 AT K B
Re R BEREERNZAR
L E 3 & 7 7R BB B A R

AEEERERR  XRGIR
RRTHEBONKEARY TE
R ARELERANEHAND
HI R SN R ENFEIANL RNE K o

ATHBEREDN RN RS HAR
H e 8% BfE R A R E R E
E o DT TR W& HIRAKE
B ERNBEFEDAREEM
e EEENEMNENAER
BE S E) T AR 48 0=kl 2 5O fE 2
2h (20234 : SOMEEEL) fEH o
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to fixed-rate borrowings, and
loan from related companies.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate borrowings, restricted cash and bank
balances. The Group’s policy is to maintain
short-term borrowings at prevailing market
rates so as to minimise the fair value interest
rate risk. The cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation in
Prime arising from the Group’s borrowings.

The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate risk
exposure and will consider interest rate
hedging should the need arises.

The management of the Group considers the
exposure of the restricted cash and bank
balances to interest rate risk is insignificant
as these balances are within short maturity
period and the fluctuation of market interest
rate is not expected to be significant.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rate risk for variable-rate borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2023: 50 basis points) increase
or decrease representing management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rate is used.
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TR T A (&)
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(20234 : 501AHES) BATEH
HhEERFTE  MAEEHZE
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5 ARARERERR  AKEZ
SERBREKERD

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points
(20283: 50 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31
March 2024 would be decreased/increased
by approximately RMB674,000 (2023:
RMB488,000).

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position and financial
guarantee contracts.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
directors of the Company has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual significant trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment loss is recognised
for irrecoverable amount. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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RNEER2024F3 A31HHA
SBEEP—BEREFNE S
EURHREREREREODARE
47,827,0007C (20234 : AR
26,164,0007T) (UGN EE F1E
WHRIBEBREKREEN8% (2023
F:8%)) HREFEERRE - K
SEERERE  ZBFPATS
FEERITHMHEE - BENRGCH
Rif - REBEEERILRAZ
EERBER -

AEER2024F3A31 B E
SERFBEBREREEEEY(E
BERK  BZEWKERERSE
EAAEEH51% (20234 : 29%) T3
ERAEERAREFS Z5E - It
Gh » REBEF2024%3 831 Bt
AAZERKGERERS EGE
RENEEREERR
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The Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk as at 31 March 2024 on the
trade and bills receivables from one of
the Group’s largest customers amounting
to approximately RMB47,827,000 (2023:
RMB26,164,000) and accounted for 8%
(2023: 8%), of the Group's trade and
bills receivables. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, the customer
is reputable organisation in the market
and have good repayment records. The
management of the Group considers that the
credit risk is limited in this regard.

The Group also has concentration of credit
risk on trade and bills receivables as at 31
March 2024, 51% of the total trade and bills
receivables was due from the Group’s top
five customers (2023: 29%). In addition, the
Group also has concentration of credit risk
on unbilled receivables and amounts due
from joint ventures as at 31 March 2024.
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BIEATER

REEE
B
Internal
credit rating

EER

Low risk

Watch list

AT &R

Doubtful

BB

Loss

s

Write-off

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

BRG] The Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

HitemEE
EripuL B 2 WA HittE R
Other financial

Description

RHHFENEREE VERHSEAVES
REHREAFREY R

The counterparty has a low risk of default
who does not have past due amounts and
does not have material long aged unbilled
receivables

EBALERIGRRER  BEBRESREE
FARARRNDAAREUFAEBENHE
(&S 2 Eo

Debtor frequently repays after due dates
but usually settle in full or have long aged
unbilled receivables but usually settle in
full after billed

ﬂmm

WEBAER S BN E RIS 2 BRI B VI 5
R EEERAEEMN

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources

BRBXRPEELREENE
There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

BEEBRFARHEAERENBNE A REETR
RBEAKEAE @A

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

Annual Report 2023/2024 ¥

Trade receivables

FEREHMEERE
- WREAEEERE

Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired

FRMEDEEEE
 BRBERERE

Lifetime ECL

- not credit-impaired
FRENBEHEEER

- WAREHFEERE

Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired

FREBEHEEER
- BE4EERE
Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired

SREOME

Amount is written off

assets/other items

12{8 AREEEEE

12 month ECL

12EABHEEER

12 month ECL

FENRMEERE
- WAREEEERE

Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired

FENRMEERE
- ERAEFERE

Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired

RO MH

Amount is written off
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In determining the ECL for other receivables,
amounts due from joint ventures, and amount
due from a shareholder, the management
of the Group has taken into account the
historical default experience and forward-
looking information, as appropriate, for
example, the Group has considered the
consistently low default rate in connection
with payments, and concluded that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
receivables is insignificant.

The credit risks on bills receivables,
restricted cash and bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.



34.

e B WK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

€T R (E)

34.

TRALAEESREELTH

ERARN2024F 202343 A

S1THEEMNEERKRMKO - WA

EITRREEBRNG

RBERATIREREE

Mt

Notes

Financial assets at amortised cost

BHRARAREYK

Trade and unbilled receivables

eSS

Bills receivables

H i YRR

Other receivables

g

Deposits

FREBETE(BHIE)

Amounts due from joint ventures
(Trade nature)

EREEETE (FEHIE)

Amounts due from joint ventures
(Non-trade nature)

JEU— B R R FIE

Amount due from a shareholder

ZRERS

Restricted cash

ROTBEHERE

Bank balances and cash

21

21

hEp
EEFIR
External
credit rating

TEm

N/A

¥l
N/A
el
N/A
iR
N/A
E¥alii

N/A
TEH

N/A

NEf

N/A

Baa3 - Aa3
Baa3 - Aa3
Baa3 - Aa3
Baa3 - Aa3

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets
and financial guarantee contracts as at 31
March 2024 and 2023, which are subject to
ECL assessment:

A 128 A7 EH REAE
EER REEEER R3A31A
Internal 12-month or lifetime Gross carrying amount
credit rating  ECL As at 31 March
2024 2023F
2024 2023

ARETT  ARETL
RMB'000 RMB'000

REHBHEEERE
(Hiit1) (EBAFE) 45,648 118,246
Lifetime ECL
(collective
(Note 1) assessment)
RENEHEEERE
ERR (f&RIFHE) 116,385 70,384
Lifetime ECL
(individual
Low risk assessment)
B BREEERE 11,844 11,740
Loss Credit-impaired

173,877 200,370
EER 12 EHEESE 422,086 140,886
Low risk 12m ECL
gzl 12 EHEEEE 5,298 27,553
Low risk 12m ECL

E=EB 12 EHEEER 8,000 =
Low risk 12m ECL

(Hizt1) FEREHEEERE 13,862 14,258
(Note 1) Lifetime ECL

EER 12 AEHBEEEE 4,658 13,232
Low risk 12m ECL

ERER 12 R EHBEEEE - 3,535
Low risk 12m ECL

TEA 12 EHEEERE 152,205 170,484
N/A 12m ECL

TEA 12 S EEER 812,343 365,731
N/A 12m ECL
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(CONTINUED)
Mt -
Note:
(1) B HRAREEKKEM
s AKBEEEABENBKR (1) For trade and unbilled receivables, the

& 2E RIS QSR Y AL T3 R AT
EFEPRHEEBRNER
B - BREBAKREESHRN
ERAFEERENEBANL
SRR B B IRBE RN -
AEBEFREBIGEELSE
BEAMRHREEBEILIZAE
EERESA -

EARASBEEERREEMN —I
D AEBYUHERFPETRIE
BEFR - TRIBRTFESHESE
BB (TARBEEERE) RIE
SR ETHONE S ERFIBA
HERMEERR 2 ER - 12024
FIAIHEEMBEARARE
128,229,0007T (20234 : AR
82,124,0000) WAEKXNKEE
EHREBEAEFEERENEY
BERFE - AEERXNKEER
BHEBSANTELHEERRTIGHA
NF4I1%ZE3% ©
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Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired and trade related balances with
related parties, the Group determines the
ECL on these items by using collective
assessment, grouped by internal credit
rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed based on collective
assessment within lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired). Debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired with
gross carrying amounts of RMB128,229,000
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: RMB82,124,000)
was assessed individually. The average loss
rates for debtors with significant outstanding
balances are assessed to be ranging from
approximately 1% to 3%.
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34. €FT A () 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
B 5 R ARRERKGRIE
MR3A31H
Trade and unbilled receivables
As at 31 March
AEBEE TR FEEER 20245 TR 20234
Internal Average Average
credit rating loss rate 2024 loss rate 2023
ARBET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
KR Low risk 1.79% 37,787 1.90% 36,792
BR5E Watch list 2.61% 7,861 3.85% 81,454
45,648 118,246

EERERERTDERER AR ALY
FHOBERBEREOXMGE -
WIRBHEEBZRAKENT
HSHATE AR (NP EITEN
RERBERT R EBBEA
EHNRENNRZE) BE - &
RZEEF P RIFEIE KRS8k & B
ARENRYHEEL A%
EEHEMREREESERERT
BHBE0BMNE HRUKIARE
BHONEBR - AEBNEFPERIE
BECEBRERERNMG X
SLATREMEEEHEL AR - AEX
mHENENEFPEREELEQR
REtE R E X R A R FHEEERE
@ NEBEEESEHENZ
DM NERERBFEEBAL
HEEAE R o

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information (for example,
the macroeconomic conditions affecting
the industry and the impact that may affect
debtor ability to make payments) that is
available without undue cost or effort. The
Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for trade receivables over
90 days past due based on good repayment
records for those customers and long-
term/continuous business with the Group.
Large number of small customers are
assessed collectively based on historical
credit loss experience adjusted by forward
looking estimates. Individual customers
with  significant balances are assessed
individually for the credit risk based on
their probability of default and exposure of
default. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by the management of the Group to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.

Annual Report 2023/2024 MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 179



()

e MBRRNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.

TRIE (&)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

HZE2024FE3A31BILFEE - K
SERBEERETHRES AR
== 7 i R B o] R (B B F R A
AR#3 446,000t (20234 : A
R#3,958,0007T) °

HZE2024FE3A31BILFEE - K
SERAESREHLIEEERE
SRIBRER (B ) RE BB FELY
AER#742 0007 (20234 : (A
R#2651,0007T)) °

HE2024FE3A31BILFEE - K
SEREEREHNEBTARE
BEREESEARRREREFHE
#ANERH104,0007T (20234 = A
R#4,954,0007T) °

TRETMMREBIOEDERNE
HERARBRREAZ FERE
HEEERES -

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group reversed net impairment allowance of
approximately RMB3,446,000 for trade and
unbilled receivables, based on the collective
assessment (2023: RMB3,958,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group recognised (reversed) net impairment
allowance of approximately RMB742,000 for
debtors with significant balances and not
credit-impaired (2023: (RMB2,651,000)).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group recognised net impairment allowance
of approximately RMB104,000 (2023:
RMB4,954,000) for debtors with significant
balances and credit impaired debtors.

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for
trade and unbilled receivables under the
simplified approach.

FERRY FEYNEBEE

FEEE (GRB®E BB (EBR4%E-
EERE) FERE) a5

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
AR®ET T AR®ET T AR¥ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R202244818 As at 1 April 2022 12,272 6,786 19,058
BEERBIEEE Impairment loss recognised 4,255 4,954 9,209
B LR EEE Impairment loss reversed (10,864) = (10,864)
7202393 H31H As at 31 March 2023 5,663 11,740 17,403
BEERBIEEE Impairment loss recognised 1,494 206 1,700
B BRI EEE Impairment loss reversed (4,198) (102) (4,300)
720243 H31H As at 31 March 2024 2,959 11,844 14,803
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REBRBEENS FHARS
MRTHEAEEERHES -
MR2024F3A31H @ NEEEEEA
AR AEARITRELBELHA
R#689,380,0007T (20234 : A
R#643,540,0007T) °

TR DI R EAR IR 15 2 5
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BMERAE  ARMIRSBEIE
REIEHREOFIE o

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

None of the trade receivables that have been
written off is subject to enforcement activities.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group relies on cash generated from/
used in operations and banking facilities
to finance its operation. As at 31 March
2024, the Group had available unutilised
aggregate banking facilities of approximately
RMB689,380,000 (2023: RMB643,540,000).

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are
at floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.

Annual Report 2023/2024 ¥ MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 181

N ‘



\‘t A ISR R MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N .

34. €@ T A (/&) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
RERS REBRS
il S EpES DR{EAR 12388  3fERE1E 125% ELH REE
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than 3 month undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amount
% ARETn  ARETR ARETT ARETn  ARETR  ARETE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
202437318  As at 31 March 2024
SREE Financial liabilities
B RN Trade payables = 25,461 104,530 = = 129,991 129,991
eSS Bills payables = 116,600 55,000 48,340 - 219,940 219,940
L ARE Other payables = 36,538 = - = 36,538 36,538
{5 Borrowings 3.80 50,163 195,182 138,829 170,734 554,908 545,163
RERR Lease liabilities 5.89 513 1,025 3,439 536 5513 5,375
@z Total 209,275 355,737 190,608 71,270 946,890 937,007
7202337318  As at 31 March 2023
SHER Financial liabilities
BoRMATE Trade payables = 148,931 66,222 = 215,153 215,153
EREE Bills payables - 25,085 63,629 193,008 - 281,722 281,722
AR5 Other payables = 31,739 = 31,739 31,739
B Borrowings 460 20,083 24,988 122,141 83,258 250,470 244,738
EN—RBHAR  Amount due to a related
FE company = 175,716 - - = 175,716 175,716
RE—FEHAR  Loan from a related
ZiEE company 5.00 = = 109,755 = 109,755 105,817
HEER Lease liabilities 5.92 513 1,025 4613 5,513 11,664 11,057
b Total 402,067 155,864 429,517 88,771 1,076,219 1,065,942
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TREERESRARZIAFET
BREARTERAENURRS

MEBDETE

ARAREZERR  REBEURRS
MEDN » REBEARBRER
BMBHRERNREHKAARLZ
TREENEMAGB LKA ER
HAFERE -

TERBEBERERAATRFRLS
B BUBRE N2 ERE
ErEBAE  TERZRUE
BTRE THEZECERAKE
RAMBRRKRIEH -

2R IR & R IR R R
SETTANAEELEE P BN
MRBHNEFEE - HRRHED#®
REeBREERNREIERN KN
BRTEE -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities of the Group and
the Company recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair value based on
discounted cash flows analysis.

The disclosures set out in the tables below
include financial assets and financial
liabilities that are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial
instruments, irrespective of whether they are
offset in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position.

The amounts recognised for the restricted
cash and bills payables do not meet
the criteria for offsetting in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position
since the offset of the recognised amounts
will only occur upon default of payment by
the Group.
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72024563 A31H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024

RirE TEREE BRI R
B AR R & K 8E KB BA SR IE
2545 S@MIA AR
Gross amounts
presented on Related amounts not set off
consolidated in the consolidated statement
statement of of financial position
financial Financial
position instruments Net amount
ARMTTE — ARMTE — AR%TR
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
SREE Financial asset
ZRHIRE Restricted cash 152,205 (109,975) 42,230
cEas Financial liability
ANESE Bills payables (219,940) 109,975 (109,965)

M202353HA31H

As at 31 March 2023

RiRE TERGEE BT R
B R AR 3R K SH Y B B RN IE
2585 £MIA =R
Gross amounts
presented on Related amounts not set off
consolidated in the consolidated statement
statement of of financial position
financial Financial
position instruments Net amount
ARBTT ARBEFTT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SREE Financial asset
IR 6 & Restricted cash 170,484 (148,775) 21,709
SRIAE Financial liability
2% Bills payables (281,722) 148,775 (132,947)
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RAKEGZEBBRRAERST 25
MEERTHEER SR BER
B(ORERNER) HIREBHKRAR

i -

35(i). MEEENFTELE R ENHR

TERBINAKERNBEZBDAELRR
MEEFE  BRRE LIRS -
RELTHELMNARREERSREIR
RRERERNARBENGEARSRER
ToBERRERSRERENEE -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
The gross amounts of the recognised
financial asset and financial liability as
presented in the Group’'s consolidated

statement of financial position, both of which
have been disclosed in the above tables, are
measured at amortised cost.

35(i).RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

FEf B REEH
fak AARE  DEAZRE HEAR ERRE  EBATRA @t
Amounts Loan from
due to related related Lease Dividend Accrued
Borrowings companies companies liabilities payable issue cost Total
AREFT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  AR%TT  ARETxR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W2022%4R18 At 1 April 2022 332,427 158,530 95,020 8,318 - 4,448 598,743
TR Finance costs 11,203 - 5,825 623 - = 17,651
HERSTE Financing cash flow 53511 2,622 4972 (6,391) (8,977) (8,189) 37,548
EERRE Dividend declared - - - - 8,977 - 8,977
FERTBITAA Issue cost accruals = = = = = 6,243 6,243
AR Exchange adjustments 759 11,340 = = = = 12,009
EHNE k) New leases entered = = = 8,507 = = 8,507
IAEREESRSE  Offset with bills
(H#) receivables (Note) (153,162) - - - - - (153,162)
Acquired on acquisition

WE-FWBARE  of asubsidiary
85 (Hi36) (Note 36) = 3,224 = = = = 3,224
2023438318 At 31 March 2023 244,738 175,716 105,817 11,057 - 2,502 539,830
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35(i). RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

fEf R RE B
f% AEFE  AEZfEE HE8E EARE  ESBOKA b
Amounts Loan from
due to related related Lease Dividend Accrued
Borrowings companies companies liabilities payable issue cost Total
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BT Finance costs 14,262 = 4,865 470 = - 19,597
RERENE Financing cash flow 266,931 (185,495) 10,967 (6,152) (11,380) (33,823) 41,048
BERRE Dividend declared - - - - 11,380 = 11,380
JEF BT Issue cost accruals = = = = = 38,405 38,405
B 5 R Exchange adjustments (760) 9,779 - = = = 9,019
Received through notes
FRENREUR  receivables 19,992 = - - = = 19,992
Transfer to contract
BRZARARE liabilities - - (121,649) - = = (121,649)
1R2024F3A318 At 31 March 2024 545,163 - - 5,375 - 7,084 557,622
BiaE - FRIBIEERERL IR B R R B BRI AR E Note: Amounts represented bank borrowings

TERRRITER

35(ii). FEEX 5

MR2024F3A31H  AEEBHKE —XK
BB ARNEREREARAE €8
4B ANERE121,649,0007T (20234 :
) e

MR2024%3 8318 ' A&EBE:IY—1A
= SRR —RREREE R EE
W—REBARKIE  2EHEARE
3,261,0007T (20234 : &) o th4p » A
EEFTYS—H=FHHUNEHEARE
EHARKS,021,0007T (20234 : &)
K FEUL— KR A B FOE o
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derecognised when the related discounted bills
receivables were matured.

35(ii). NON-CASH TRANSACTION

As at 31 March 2024, the Group transferred the
loan from a related company to contract liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB121,649,000 (2023:
nil).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group entered into a
tripartite agreement to transfer the amount due from
a shareholder to the amount due from a related
company amounted to approximately RMB3,261,000
(2023: nil). In addition, the Group entered into
another tripartite agreement to offset the amount
due from a related company with contract liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB8,021,000 (2023:
nil).



36.

e B WK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g — B 2 F 36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
R2022F 4 A26H * AEEUARKEA On 26 April 2022, the Group acquired 100%
THREREE —BEBMAEERSK equity interest in Tongjiang Migao to support its
BRI KSRI100%RE - UXFEAER development plan to build a warehousing and
EIERIMERERREER LA production centre in Tongjiang City, Heilongjiang
RETE - UIREEREEHRERES - Province to enhance the product supply efficiency
o - 20226 A15H @ Bl EBE and capability at a cash consideration of RMB1 from
REZERENEHRELET —EBEY a related party, Liaoning Migao. In addition, on 15
F=7 B2022F6 A15ARREENKS June 2022, Mr. Liu disposed of all his equity interest
MAREEMNE=7 - WERIKE A in Liaoning Migao to an independent third party and
IRYIEEEIREE o Liaoning Migao became a third party of the Group
since 15 June 2022. The acquisition of Tongjiang
Migao is accounted for as asset acquisition.
RKREBH RIIKSHABFENE At the date of acquisition, Tongjiang Migao has
AR#1,465,0007T * REERTIAKSR net liabilittes of approximately RMB1,465,000,
WERASNEEFECRANEZEARY the difference between the consideration and
BBRAERZSTEFENDIR the net liabilities of Tongjiang Migao at the date
of acquisition was accounted for as deemed
distribution to Mr. Liu.
RUEE B BRI B E RERNAE - Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the
date of acquisition.
ARETT
RMB’000
H b pE R IE Other receivables 79
IRITAE R Bank balances 1,702
H A FE A FRIE Other payables (22)
FE — KRB A 51 5IA Amount due to a related company (3,224)
HEt Total (1,465)
WEBESIKRESHRERAEHE Net cash inflow on acquisition of Tongjiang
Migao:
ARETTT
RMB’000
BERNREERE Cash consideration paid =
B BERe KRR EEBYER Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired 1,702
1,702
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.

i@ﬂﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁ(}%%) 37.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVES

(DEFICITS) OF THE COMPANY

N .

MR3A31H
As at 31 March
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AREET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEREBEE Non-current asset
REB AR HIRE Investments in subsidiaries = =
REBEE Current assets
H At JE W R IE R FB A IR Other receivables and prepayments 332 17,069
FEULHT B A RIFIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 342,541 830
RITHBEIA S Bank balances and cash 353,946 21
696,819 17,920
REBEE Current liabilities
H 5 E Other payables 17,297 12,475
FEAHHT B A B RUR Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,344 63,415
18,641 75,890
EE (8RB &8 Net assets (liabilities) 678,178 (57,970)
BEAR®E (BHt) Capital and reserves (deficits)
[N Share capital 63,861 66
il (EAl) Reserves (deficits) 614,317 (58,036)
678,178 (57,970)
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37.

e MBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERBAIARRK#H (BA)  37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
* (%) POSITION AND RESERVES
(DEFICITS) OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
RABRFEE (B4 8T Movement in the Company’s reserves (deficits) is as
follows:
gy Z5HE51E st
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
ARBEFTT ARBEFTT ARKETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2022F 4 A1H At 1 April 2022 - (87,582) (87,582)
FREBEREM Loss and other comprehensive
2HEMY expense for the year = (20,454) (20,454)
©K2023F3H31H At 31 March 2023 - (58,036) (58,036)
FRNEEREAM Loss and other comprehensive
2HEMX expense for the year - (43,426) (43,426)
BARMEET Capitalisation issue (47,832) = (47,832)
RERAFAEER
BTHR D Issue of new shares upon the IPO 816,755 = 816,755
BITRAR D MG Transaction costs attributable to
R HHKA issue of new shares (53,144) (53,144)
R2024F3 H31H At 31 March 2024 715,779 (101,462) 614,317
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ARQFKEARFE

ARAEEREEFEONB RS

AT :

WEAREE

Name of subsidiaries

BEAREEXBRLOR"
H.K. Migao Industry
Limited *

Migao International*
(Singapore) Pte Ltd.

Migao International*
(Singapore) Pte Ltd.

ERASCIBERATF
G

Guangdong Migao
Chemical Co., Ltd.
(Note i)

m)IKB I EBR A
G

Sichuan Migao
Chemical Fertiliser
Co., Ltd. (Note i)

KBEI(RE)BRR
EIGED)

Migao Chemical

(Changchun) Co.,
Ltd. (Note i)

190 kEEEERERAT ¥

38.

ML B
KEwARAH HMEA
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment/ Registered
operation capital
&

200548 A24H NER
Hong Kong

24 August 2005 N/A
HAK 2,800,000

201043A31H IR TT
Singapore

31 March 2010 SGD2,800,000
h

200445308 17,000,00007C
The PRC

30 April 2004  CAD17,000,000
H NG

2003F6A6H 116,480,0007T
The PRC

6 June 2003  RMB116,480,000
f

200612858 13,160,00007C
The PRC

5 December

2006 CAD13,160,000

3R 2023/2024

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly
held by the Company are set out below:

EBITR
BrREBR

Issued and
fully paid
ordinary share

60,878 46357
HKD60,878,463
2,800,000
Mg

SGD2,800,000

NEH

N/A

NEH

N/A

NEH

N/A

AEEEE R RAELL I

M3A31H

20245 20235

Proportion of equity interest
attributable to the Group
As at 31 March

2024 2023

% %

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

IRED

Principal activities

REZR

Investment holding

EERBME
Trading of specialty
potash - based

fertilizers

HERERRFENE

Manufacturing and
trading of specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

HERERRFENE

Manufacturing and
trading of specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

HERERRFENE

Manufacturing and
trading of specialty
potash-based
fertilizers



38. AN TMERQRFE (&) 38.
ML B
LnENCIEEg BEHER A &R
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment/ Registered
Name of subsidiaries operation capital
2l AEE
AREORS (B Exii) 1996411 A5H  50,000,0007T
The PRC
5 November
Daxing Migao (Note ii) 1996 RMB50,000,000
HE AEE
8RR (M) 2018%5A14A  100,000,0007C
Baoging Migao The PRC
(Note ii) 14 May 2018~ RMB100,000,000
I AEE
ZERE () 201864198  240,000,0007C
The PRC
Anda Migao (Note ii) 19 June 2018 RMB240,000,000
Malaysia Holding SRED
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 2017411 A24H 2%F
Malaysia
Malaysia Holding 24 November
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 2017 RM2
Migao International SRAD
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 201747 H108 2%F
Migao International Malaysia
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 10 July 2017 RM2

e MBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

BBITR
BREBR

Issued and
fully paid
ordinary share

TEm

N/A

TEm

N/A

TEm

RM2

RM2

AEBEEEHREL I

M3A31H

20245 2023F

Proportion of equity interest
attributable to the Group
As at 31 March

2024 2023

% %

51 51

51 51

77 77

77 77

65 65

65 65

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

TRED

Principal activities

EEREERENE

Manufacturing and
trading of specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

EEREERENE

Manufacturing and
trading of specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

EEREERENE

Manufacturing and
trading of specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

RAEER

Investment holding

RAER

Investment holding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. AATMBABFIE(E) 38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
BB REL I

S/ B/ BRTR H3A31A

WEAREHE KemBERAH HMEX BREER 2024% 2023 EEEH
Place and date of Proportion of equity interest
incorporation/ Issued and  attributable to the Group
establishment/ Registered fully paid As at 31 March

Name of subsidiaries operation capital  ordinary share 2024 2023  Principal activities

% %
HiE AEE ERHREERL : £E
R AR (Ffagi) 202145H278  200,000,0007C TER 100 100  RHEREH

Warehousing and
production centre;

Tongjiang Migao The PRC production and
(Note iii) 27 May 2021 RMB200,000,000 N/A 100 100 sales of fertilizers

PEMAmED « Rt

AettEIREM (K P SEERSEY v
#)BRAE (MFv)  2022F8A118  20,000,000% 7T TER 100 100 HEREH
Research and
development
related activities;
provision of
Migao Century technical
Engineering and project
Technology management
(Chengdu) Co., Ltd ~ The PRC services; sales of
(Note iv) 11 August 2022  USD20,000,000 N/A 100 100 fertilizers
* RARRIHEERS - * Directly held by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ARQTMKEARFE (H)

Hiat -

(i) ZEEBADEINENBAR -

(ii) ZEEBAIZEHANMBAR -

(i)  ZMEBRFNR20229F4 A26 A A E
g o

(iv) FZMBARIMR2022F8 A11HMAL ©

ARBFEMBRAMNRERERR T
FAMMAEESAER

RAFER  HBEHNBARCDETEM
BEES -

39. MEHRER

MR2024F 48178 » AR FE LT
BELRBREES S ITHEREEETR
BE1D 4.08 78 T M A A% R 31T & A %
8,940,000 % & /@AY -

38.

39.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i These entities are wholly-owned foreign
subsidiaries.

(i) These entities are non-wholly owned domestic
subsidiaries.

(iii) This subsidiary was acquired by the Group on 26
April 2022.

(iv) This subsidiary was established on 11 August
2022.

The voting power of the subsidiaries held by the
Company are same with the ownership interest held
by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 17 April 2024, the Company issued and allotted
ordinary shares of 8,940,000 shares to the public
shareholders at an offer price of HKD4.08 per share
pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment
option in the Listing.
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LESECESES

N
W FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

\" 0y

AEBBENEVRFENEENEE AR
FormiEa i ® (Fika 0 TR EERM R
R)EIOT o

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last four
financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements, is set out below.
HRGEEEREMEERER CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

202181 4F 202281 F 202381 F 2024 8

FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

ARBT T AREFTT AREFT AR%TR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

& Revenue 2,081,579 3,841,400 4,722,749 3,770,543

EAH Gross Profit 250,741 633,423 767,533 536,504

B 750 B g A Profit before tax 264,926 471,044 533,414 333,604

FEEF Profit for the year 206,525 396,580 421,514 276,194
AN ALTEET  Profit attributable to

— ARREBA — Owners of the Company 202,294 396,337 405,089 252,479

— FEPE A A - Non-controlling interests 4,231 243 16,425 23,715

206,525 396,580 421,514 276,194

IGLEEE SR 3 O CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2021814 202281 202381 & 202481 &

FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

ARBEFIT AREBTFT ARETT AR®TR

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BEE Total assets 2,406,040 3,711,757 3,238,815 4,605,529
waE Total liabilities 1,750,283 2,536,839 1,662,922 1,989,837
R iaE Total equity 655,757 1,174,918 1,575,893 2,615,692
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[ERBFRE]
“AGM”

“Anda Migao”

[#EEE =2 AR =k [ 48 8) ]
“Articles of Association”
or “Articles”

[EZZBE

“Audit Commntee”

(8

\U]]‘[:%

IR

Jm

“Baoging Migao”

Htj@mfﬁﬁj—iﬁﬁﬁ
“‘Beidahuang Modern
Agricultural Services”

[EA TR |

“‘Beidahuang Group”

E3-0
“Board”

[HEREE]

“Cayman Companies Act”

B
DEFINITIONS

RARHR2024F9 2R (28 —) BITHREBFRE
the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on Monday, 2
September 2024

ZiElt KRR RERBRERAF - —ER20185F6 19 IREFE 5£&%iﬁ’]ﬁ
REFEAF - EEEﬁ%mtﬁ:)mﬁﬁss%LA&E%ﬁ“m&Fﬁﬁ\’m%ﬁas%(E%
RERAKSDRIHAE34% K%31%) » WHRKARMER

Anda Beidahuang Migao Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. (RELARFTORSE
X=BH AR A A, a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 19 June 2018 and is owned as to 35% by Heilongjiang Beidahuang,
and 65% by Changchun Migao (as to 34%) and Guangdong Migao (as to 31%),
and a subsidiary of the Company

RARRMMABZRRME (B RRKETTRE)
the articles of association of the Company adopted (as amended and restated
from time to time)

EFXCeEREEY

the audit committee of the Board

EERRREREBRAT - —HR2018F5 A 14AREBEFBIEEK YN ERE T
NS EEﬁE/Iitjzf.t%&ﬁzs%LA&J*%%m&E%%mwﬁ‘ﬁ%(J*Eﬁer&E%
KEDBIHEA40% K37%) * WAKARNEAT

Baoging Migao Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. (BB XS 2XREERA
A]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
14 May 2018 and is owned as to 23% by Heilongjiang Beidahuang, and 77%
by Guangdong Migao (as to 40%) and Changchun Migao (as to 37%), and a
subsidiary of the Company

BEIIRARREREERBEEARQE - BRI RHEEZERAF
Heilongjiang Beidahuang Modern Agricultural Services Group Co., Ltd. (&
BT ARIRREBERBERAERAA), the immediate holding company of
Heilongjiang Beidahuang

ERFRARBRERELEMER

Beidahuang Modern Agrlcultural Services and its subsidiaries

RRREEE

the board of Directors of the Company

FESHEAREFE22E (1961 FEIFAR - KA K
LAE At 75 A& 2k

the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time
to time

ER]) » ETRHER] ~ R
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&

Bx
DEFINITIONS

[REXR]

“Changchun Migao”

e
“China” or “PRC”
(A7

“Company”

[E R AR R
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”

[Eahe]

“compound fertilizer”

[ ERFAl
“Corporate Governance
Code”

[ REUKT

“Daxing Migao”

[E%]

“Director(s)

(R - g k&R

‘ESG”

[ HERERZES]

“ESG Committee”

KL (RE)BRAR - —1X20065F12 A5 BRIBEFEDARKIMNAREER
A WAARRNEENB LA

Migao Chemical (Changchun) Co., Ltd. (K&t T(KZ&H)BRAQR]), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 5 December 2006
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

REARKENE - RAFHRME - TREES - RFIREE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

KeEEERERAR - —MR2017F11 21 BEHESREFMRIAERCER
NG|

Migao Group Holdings Limited CRE&EBIERAR A F]), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 21 November 2017

BB FHRAMETORE - RXESEMEIN - BERQENERRR A L E
Migao Barbados K& Migao BVI

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the controlling shareholders of the Company,
namely, Mr. Liu Guocai, Migao Barbados and Migao BVI

—ERER B W ZBRONER - EEERAEEE - EeEHFAE

a kind of fertilizer with three-components, providing nitrogen, phosphorus and
potassium. Compound fertilizer can be used for balanced fertilization and can
increase the utilization rate of fertilisers

AR BIMERC AR X B EAR PR
code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules

BEREEEAREELT - —BRN1996F 11 A HRBFEDEZK LN AREE
AR BUIREERS1% R EMNEEREEF49%  WAKRE BB R
Zunyi Daxing Compound Fertiliser Co., Ltd. (E& ABELBRETLQT),
a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
5 November 1996 and is owned as to 51% by Sichuan Migao and 49% by
Guizhou Tobacco Investment and a subsidiary of the Group

RRARESE

the director(s) of the Company

RIE g k®h

environmental, social, and governance

BEERE HBENEREZE®
the environmental, social, and governance committee of the Board
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[EuroChem Migao |

“EuroChem Migao”

[20238f 4 |
“FY2023"

[2024 8 4 |
“FY2024"

[REE ]
“Group”

[BEMERRE

“Guizhou Tobacco
Investment”

[ BT AR

“Heilongjiang
Beidahuang”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

EuroChem Migao Limited * —fR 201462 A 14 BEEBFMAZHER AR B
BERSEBERE=ZFHAES0%  WARRNEENEGEDE

EuroChem Migao Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong on 14 February 2014 and is owned as to 50% by HK Migao and 50% by a
third party and is the Group’s joint venture

RAREHZE2023F3A31 ALLFEHFE
the Company'’s financial year ended 31 March 2023

RATEZE2024F3 A31 A I HRFE
the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2024

AT REME A RS
collectively, the Company and its subsidiaries

BEMEEREERBERDA - ABLE=ZF (RIEARIEKSHNEZRRIN
Guizhou Tobacco Investment Management Co., Ltd. (EMEEREERERA
7l), an independent third party (other than being a substantial shareholder of
Daxing Migao)

BRASEIARAR - —HR2004F4 A0 BREBEFEEERINBREED
A RARANEENE QA

Guangdong Migao Chemical Co., Ltd. (BEXK&E{ETHERZA7A), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 30 April 2004 and
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

R —BEIEKRR  BREMESEKRE  EERIENSREKIS - B2
FERR IR

hydrochloric acid, an agueous solution of hydrogen chloride, belonging to one-
component inorganic strong acid, which is an important part the chlor-alkali
industry and is widely used in industrial fields

EPRIULERRRREXERBEERERR AR - —HN20084F8 A25 BIREH A
BRUMNBEEREELRF  AAEENNBLARRELASREBTASHEERRE -
EIt B AR AR BEAL

Heilongjiang Beidahuang Modern Agricultural Services Group Agricultural
Materials Co., Ltd. (REITIEARANRRERERBEEREBR LA, a state-
owned company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
25 August 2008 and is a substantial shareholder of the Group’s subsidiaries,
Anda Migao and Baoging Migao, and is therefore a connected person of the
Company
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&

Bx

DEFINITIONS

[EEXR]

“HK Migao”

[EAMBHREER]
“HKFRS”

[T ] &[]
“HK$”, and “cents”

[&5]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

&AL
“KCL”

[ A
“Listing Date”

[ EAR A
“Listing Rules”
[FSREE K

“Malaysia Migao”

[Malaysia Migao
International |
“Malaysia Migao
International”

[Migao Barbados |

“Migao Barbados”

EEARBEEARAR - —HMR2005F8 24 AEBFBHEMATHERAR - AX
NAMZRENERT

H.K. Migao Industry Limited (&K EXAFR 2 A]), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong 24 August 2005 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

BB RS LR
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

BEREEERETRE

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

REEESRITTHE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

AL - —BBARKCIHIEAEY - BH60%ME(IES - AIAELEHR
potassium chloride, a compound with the chemical formula KCI containing
around 60% potassium oxide equivalent, which can be used

as a fertilizer

20243 HA21H
21 March 2024

B2 P EMREE 5 LT AR A
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

Migao Holding (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. + —fE12017 11 A 24 HiRI& H 2R AR A=
MR ERAT - WRRNEENZENEB LR

Migao Holding (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated under the laws
of Malaysia with limited liability on 24 November 2017 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group

Migao International (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. r —f8R2017F7 A 10 HiRE H R AL
ERFAMKINAERRT - AAEENEENE QA

Migao International (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated under the
laws of Malaysia with limited liability on 10 July 2017 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group

Migao International Holding Limited + —f&E /1200548 A 19 AR B E B E L /8%
BEMKINERAT - R2010F1 A25 BRIBERBEZHE AR K ILBEEWIRE
EEziriggEss  BRIBA e EHEE

Migao International Holding Limited, a company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI with limited liability on 19 August 2005 and was discontinued as a
company under the laws of the BVI and continuing as a company under the
laws of Barbados on 25 January 2010 and is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Guocai

198 KSEEZERER AT ¥ Fif 2023/2024



[Migao BVI]

“Migao BVI”

Kt 4 ACED ]

“Migao Century
(Chengdu)”

[12%=FAl ]
“Model Code”

[MERZEe

“Nomination Committee”

[ AHB& 57 ]
“NOP”

[ B EE ]

“Prospectus”

[FHZEE = ]
“Remuneration
Committee”

[ARE]
“RMB”

&7 MR RG)

‘SFO”

[ &t
“Share(s)”

[
“Shareholder(s)”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

KEEBRARAR - —RR2017F11 A17 BRERER LS ARFMA A IS
BEREEEEARAR © WHMigao Barbados®E#H A

Migao Holding Limited K& {EA&BBR A &, a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI with limited liability on 17 November 2017 and is
wholly-owned by Migao Barbados

Rttt TR (R AR ATF - —fHR2022F8 411 ARIEHBUEEK I E
REMELQF - WARAEENZENHEB LA

Migao Century Engineering Technology (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.* K&t 42 T2 &4l
(&) EFR A R]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 11 August 2022 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

FARBIMERCIFTE E M EITAERETE SR HNRLETH
the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

EEERARET

the nomination committee of the Board

HEEIR - (L2 ABKNO3HLEY - Fif - AFAR - AIAIEREH
potassium nitrate, a compound with the chemical formula KNOS3 containing
potassium, oxygen, and nitrogen, which can be used as a fertilizer

ARATIBHEIR2024E3 A13EMBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 13 March 2024

EReVERES

the remuneration committee of the Board

FEDEEEBARE
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

EEEPIESTI EEHF RPERD) - BTREFI ST
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

RRFRAHGREEO0.01ETTH BRI
ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with nominal value of US$0.01
each

KRR RIRER
the shareholder(s) of the Company
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&

Bx
DEFINITIONS

)ik ] i

“Sichuan Migao”

[F A tc

“Singapore Migao”

[ BB 5 | Ec
“‘SOP”
[ Bt 2P |

“Stock Exchange”

gl i

“subsidiary(ies)”

[EEEEZES] e}

“Yunnan EuroChem”

[BEAKT ] &
“Zunyi Migao”
[% ] &

"oy

mIKEEEERAT - —HR200346 A6 BIRERBARKINEGREERT
WAARRNEENE QA

Sichuan Migao Chemical Fertiliser Co., Ltd. (PU)I>K={ELAEABR A F]), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 6 June 2003 and
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Migao International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. * —fE 201043 A31 BIREH I A2
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Migao International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a company established under the
laws of Singapore with limited liability on 31 March 2010 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company
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potassium sulphate, a compound with the chemical formula K2504 containing
around 50% potassium oxide equivalent, which can be used as a fertilizer
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has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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Yunnan EuroChem Fertiliser Technology Co., Ltd. (BB ZEEBEIEEREER
~A]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability
on 12 July 2013 and is owned as to 70% by EuroChem Migao and 30% by an
independent third party, an indirect joint venture of the Company
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Huantaiyang (Zunyi) Real Estate Leasing Co., Ltd. (BA¥(E&)EHEMEEGR
‘A 7)), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
21 February 2011, which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Liu
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